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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: All right.  We're

          3  going to get this hearing of the Health Committee

          4  started.  My name is Christine Quinn.  I'm the Chair

          5  of the City Council's Health Committee.  I just want

          6  to say, to start, you're going to see a lot, a fair

          7  number of Members coming in and out because there is

          8  a, as you might have noticed, very large hearing

          9  next door on the proposal for the Nets Arena in

         10  Brooklyn, and there's also a couple of hearings

         11  going on across the street, 250 Broadway, as well as

         12  the Women's Caucus having a hearing on the budget.

         13  So, people will be in and out.

         14                 I'm going to first just make a couple

         15  of opening statements and then turn the mic over to

         16  our Minority Leader and Member of this Committee,

         17  Council Member Oddo, who is the sponsor of the main

         18  piece of legislation that today's hearing is

         19  focusing on.

         20                 As I'm sure you're all aware, this is

         21  the second hearing that City Council's Health

         22  Committee has had on the issue of automatic external

         23  defibrillators and their placement, as mandated

         24  under the law, in various buildings and facilities

         25  in the City.  The first hearing we had on AEDs was
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          2  jointly with our Education Committee, about a year

          3  and a half ago, which looked specifically at the

          4  legislation before us today, but also at the issue

          5  of whether the Board of Education was meeting the

          6  mandates under the law to make sure there were AEDs

          7  in schools throughout the City.

          8                 Today's hearing is just the Health

          9  Committee and it is more targeted on the legislation

         10  that Council Member Oddo and another bill by Council

         11  Member Lopez, that they have introduced.  The

         12  purpose of these laws is to really get these life

         13  saving devices out into the public.  To make sure

         14  that there is greater access to AEDs, because,

         15  according to the American Heart Association, sudden

         16  cardiac arrest claims at least a quarter of a

         17  million lives every year.  They also say that,

         18  without intervention, the chance of survival from

         19  sudden cardiac arrest is less than five percent.

         20  Having AEDs in the type of public facilities that

         21  this bill mandates will certainly go a long way to

         22  making sure that some of those deaths are prevented

         23  in this City.

         24                 In preparation for today's hearing,

         25  we've spoken with a number of the industries that
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          2  would be impacted by this bill, places like theaters

          3  and other facilities that would be required to have

          4  AEDs.  Although we have not gotten, been able to

          5  have full dialogue yet with every industry that

          6  would be impacted, I am very happy to say that we've

          7  been hearing very positive feedback from the

          8  corporate and business community.  The education

          9  that the health community has done and really that

         10  so many of the families who have lost family

         11  members, who could have been saved if there were

         12  AEDs.  The work they have done has been incredibly

         13  effective, because companies are not saying, this is

         14  too expensive, we can't do this, the liability

         15  issues.  People understand that this is more

         16  important than that and that those issues are

         17  overcomable.

         18                 So, I'm very excited about this

         19  hearing today.  We are looking forward to hearing

         20  more testimony from the Administration on the

         21  legislation specifically, since the last hearing was

         22  on both the legislation and the Department of

         23  Education issues.  As we all know, when you put the

         24  Department of Education jointly with anything, it

         25  overtakes the other thing, no matter what it is.  We
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          2  are hopeful that today's hearing is a very large

          3  step forward on what we hope is a short road to

          4  moving Council Member Oddo's bill into law, which

          5  will certainly make it so that lives will be saved

          6  in the City.  I want to turn the mic over to the

          7  Minority Leader, Council Member Oddo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you

          9  Chairwoman Quinn. If I might, I'd just like to begin

         10  with a few thank you's.  The first of which is to

         11  you, for all of your assistance and your leadership

         12  on this.  It might be a little bit premature to

         13  announce, but Council Member Quinn often puts her

         14  money where her mouth is, and we're working together

         15  to get a whole bunch of money from the New York City

         16  Police Department to increase the number of

         17  defibrillators in the local precincts, and that

         18  should be a reality come this budget time.

         19                 I also would like to thank some of

         20  the folks on the staff, because a lot of work that

         21  goes into this.  I want to thank Chris Winward and

         22  Jeremy Hoffman and Gelvina Stevenson from your

         23  staff, Rob Colandra (phonetic) and Liz Harris of my

         24  staff, and two other people who have gone on to

         25  bigger and better things, Judith MacFarlane to Paris
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          2  and Kevin Fillington to the Bloomberg

          3  Administration, but for their great that they did.

          4                 In 1997, I was a staff person for

          5  John Fusco, and there was a front page story.  I

          6  actually have the very article that I pulled out,

          7  and as you can see, Madam Chair, it's faded from the

          8  areas that I highlighted.  It was an April 16th

          9  story in the New York Times, and it focused on a guy

         10  by the name of Tony Cox (phonetic), whose the former

         11  Chairman of Showtime, and he was in a gym working

         12  out and became a victim of sudden cardiac arrest.

         13  It talked about defibrillators, and I, at that time,

         14  went to Council Member Fusco and Council Member

         15  Ognibene and asked if they'd be interested in -- if

         16  we could draft some legislation, and we did a whole

         17  bunch of research and we put a bill together.

         18                 We've made some significant progress

         19  since 1997, but we haven't gotten there all the way,

         20  and it's been quite difficult, frankly.  There have

         21  been of lots of highs and lots of lows.  We continue

         22  to push this because the harsh reality is that

         23  today, in New York City, you have a one or two

         24  percent chance of survival from sudden cardiac

         25  arrest.  The fact of the matter is AEDs can change
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          2  that and can save lives.  City government needs to

          3  embrace the concept that we have to put AEDs at

          4  those locations where it's determined statistically

          5  and historically people go into sudden cardiac

          6  arrest.  Those are places where people exercise,

          7  places where people shop, places where people have

          8  different recreational outlets, like golf courses,

          9  and we should have AEDs in public buildings.

         10                 The second reason for our continued

         11  commitment, the Chair and I on this, is through this

         12  process, we've met many remarkable people, but in

         13  particular, two families, John and Karen Acompora,

         14  who lost their 14 year- old son, and Rachel Moyer,

         15  who lost her 15 year- old son.  Until you are

         16  sitting in a room speaking one- on- one with a

         17  parent who describes what it's like to see his 14

         18  year- old son die before his eyes on a lacrosse

         19  field, or listen to a mom talk about how her son was

         20  15 years- old, strapping young lad, running up and

         21  down a basketball court and dies.  Until you have

         22  that, you know, maybe you can't understand fully the

         23  commitment that we, as an institution, have.

         24                 In 2000, I remember sitting in the

         25  Council Chambers, and then Mayor Rudy Giuliani was
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          2  giving his next to last State of the City address,

          3  and halfway through he pulled out an AED, and I

          4  almost fell off the chair.  To his credit and to the

          5  Giuliani Administration's credit, they started a

          6  process that essentially did what we were calling

          7  for in our legislation and began placing AEDs in

          8  public places.  Because of fiscal problems, those

          9  programs are cut, and I think that reaffirms, Madam

         10  Chair, the fact that we need to codify a program.

         11  We can't have a program being held hostage or a

         12  victim to changing fiscal conditions and changing

         13  priorities.

         14                 I'll just close by saying that I am

         15  committed and I know this Chair is committed, the

         16  Speaker is committed and this Council is committed

         17  to passing an AED bill.  We will work with anyone,

         18  the Administration, the industries we're impacting,

         19  anyone who can make this legislation better, the

         20  Chair, the staff, myself, all of us are available.

         21  But, make no mistake about it, we are going to pass

         22  a bill in this City Council because we know that

         23  it's going to save lives.  So, again, Madam Chair,

         24  thank you and I look forward to hearing from the

         25  future witnesses.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  I

          3  just want to say, we've been joined by Council

          4  Member Philip Reed and Council Member Al Vann, both

          5  Members of the Committee.  I want to also add to

          6  what Council Member Oddo said, thanking the staff

          7  who've done just a lot of work on this.  You know, I

          8  reference reaching out to the industries, and as I

          9  said, we haven't, you know, finished that, and we've

         10  gotten mostly positive, though I should be clear,

         11  we've gotten some, you know, concern from some

         12  sectors. So, that work will continue.  But, it was a

         13  lot of work, that part of it alone, and they've been

         14  very diligent and thorough about that, so I really

         15  want to thank them as well.

         16                 I want to say that we're now going to

         17  call up the first panel, which is going to include

         18  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, who's

         19  going to deliver testimony and the Department of

         20  City- Wide Administrative Services, whose here to

         21  answer questions only, but we very much thank them

         22  for being here as well.  We're going to call up Lynn

         23  Silver, Dr. Lynn Silver, the Assistant Commissioner

         24  for the Bureau of Chronic Disease Prevention and the

         25  representative from DCAS, whoever that it.  Is DCAS
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          2  here?  Oh, can you just sit up there so if we have

          3  questions, then it's easier.  Just, if you'd just

          4  identify yourself for the record doctor, that would

          5  be great.  Thank you.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Okay.

          7    Good afternoon Chairwoman Quinn, Members of the

          8  Health Committee, Councilman Oddo.  I'm Dr. Lynn

          9  Silver.  I'm Assistant Commissioner for Chronic

         10  Disease Prevention for the New York City Department

         11  of Health and Mental Hygiene.  I work in health

         12  policy, and amongst other areas, have worked for

         13  many years in healthcare technology assessment,

         14  including as a consultant to the U.S. Congressional

         15  Office of Technology Assessment and other

         16  international bodies addressing medical device

         17  issues.  A key area of our Bureau's work is to

         18  prevent the occurrence and to improve the treatment

         19  of cardiovascular diseases, the main cause of

         20  cardiac arrest.

         21                 I'm please to have this opportunity

         22  to speak with you about preventing deaths from heart

         23  disease and we are grateful for the Council's

         24  interest in this issue, as expressed in the

         25  legislation before you today to expand the use of
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          2  public access defibrillators.

          3                 Also, here later today will be Dr.

          4  Lynne D. Richardson, who's Assistant Professor at

          5  the Mount Sinai School of Medicine Department of

          6  Emergency Medicine, Vice- Chair of Academic Research

          7  and Community Programs at Mount Sinai Hospital

          8  Department of Emergency Medicine, a member of our

          9  New York City Board of Health, and Principal

         10  Investigator and Principal Coordinator for New York

         11  City for the Public Access Defibrillation Community

         12  Trial, or PAD Trial, which is a large multi- center

         13  study sponsored by the National Heart, Lung and

         14  Blood Institutes of the National Institutes of

         15  Health to help gauge the value of deploying

         16  automated external defibrillators in public

         17  location, in public locations, in increasing

         18  survival following out of hospital cardiac arrest.

         19                 Heart disease, as you're aware, is

         20  New York City's leading cause of death.  The good

         21  news about heart disease, of course, is that so much

         22  of it is preventable by stopping smoking,

         23  exercising, controlling blood pressure and

         24  cholesterol, eating a healthy diet and keeping a

         25  healthy weight.  Indeed, a wide range of
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          2  interventions, including changes in the nation's

          3  diet, individual lifestyle and behavioral changes,

          4  such as smoking cessation, improved management of

          5  high blood pressure and other conditions, and better

          6  medical treatment of those with coronary heart

          7  disease, have reduced the age- adjusted death rate

          8  from coronary heart disease by 58 percent in a half

          9  century.  Yet, much remains to be done and the

         10  quadrupling of obesity in the United States suggests

         11  that the rates of heart disease will again rise, if

         12  nothing is done.

         13                 As you know from the Department's

         14  previous testimony on this subject, the Department

         15  of Health and Mental Hygiene works, above all, to

         16  promote health and to prevent diseases, such as

         17  heart attacks from ever occurring.  While we work to

         18  improve the quality --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- I just want to

         20   --

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  -- Of

         22  clinical --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Let me just

         24  apologize, we're a little, with all the hearings,

         25  short- staffed on Sergeants at Arms, so we only have
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          2  one Sergeant to this hearing today, and he stepped

          3  out, I think, to make some copies.  So, we're going

          4  to try to deal with that, but I apologize.  We're

          5  just to have to run with it a little bit.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Okay,

          7  thank you Council.  While we work to improve the

          8  quality of care for chronic diseases, we do not have

          9  an active role in emergency response medicine, the

         10  branch of clinical medicine that is most closely

         11  associated with public access defibrillation.  That

         12  is why we are delighted that Dr. Richardson, a

         13  preeminent expert in this field, will be here with

         14  us today.  As you also know, while sharing a strong

         15  desire to reduce deaths from cardiac arrests, the

         16  Department and Council supporters of the legislation

         17  before you come at this problem from differing,

         18  although not mutually exclusive, vantage points.

         19                 Currently, the New York City Office

         20  of Emergency Management coordinates a program

         21  whereby automated external defibrillators are placed

         22  in New York City government facilities, including

         23  office buildings, the Staten Island Ferry Boats and

         24  Terminals, senior and community centers and other

         25  facilities. The total number of AEDs purchased by
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          2  the City under this program is 183, and nearly 1,000

          3  personnel have been trained and certified.  This

          4  program is run conjointly with the New York City

          5  Fire Department's Office of Medical Affairs.  The

          6  FDNY has devised and instituted an AED medical

          7  quality assurance program. For each defibrillator

          8  placed, six people from the receiving institution

          9  are fully trained in AED operation and certified in

         10  cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

         11                 Defibrillators work by reverting an

         12  abnormal heart rhythm known as ventricular

         13  fibrillation.  Abnormal rhythms that respond to

         14  defibrillation are present in about 40 percent of

         15  cardiac arrests.  The sooner defibrillation is begun

         16  in response to v- fib, the better the outcome.  Each

         17  minute earlier that defibrillation is applied

         18  corresponds to a roughly ten percent increased

         19  chance in survival.

         20                 Much remains to be done to strengthen

         21  all of the links in the so- called chain of survival

         22  that's promulgated by the American Heart

         23  Association, which calls for a continuum of early

         24  access to the arrest victim, early CPR, early

         25  defibrillation and early advanced care.  Prompt CPR,
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          2  sometimes a neglected risk, is a most important

          3  intervention in cardiac arrests.  These are daunting

          4  challenges in a City as vertical and as densely

          5  populated as ours.

          6                 As a public health agency, we fully

          7  appreciate the intent, underlying rationale, and

          8  direction of legislation to mandate the placement of

          9  public access defibrillators.  At the same time, we

         10  have concerns about what are the best approaches to

         11  developing effective interventions.  In the face of

         12  budget constraints, we must assure that our

         13  resources are targeted carefully.  That is why we

         14  have sought for both ourselves and for the Council,

         15  guidance from important ongoing research on this

         16  question, such as the PAD Trial and other trials,

         17  other studies of the effectiveness of automatic

         18  external defibrillators, and why we have deferred to

         19  clinical and academic expertise coming from

         20  practitioners and investigators, like Dr.

         21  Richardson, while emphasizing our agenda as a public

         22  health agency.

         23                 From our point of view, two questions

         24  need to be answered to decide on the bills in

         25  question.  Under what circumstances are
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          2  defibrillators effective in saving lives and should

          3  their use be broadened?  Today, we are in the

          4  slightly better position to respond than we were

          5  last year, to answer this question, under what

          6  circumstances do they work and how can their

          7  effectiveness be maximized.  Recent evidence from

          8  the PAD Trial I mentioned earlier, which included a

          9  significant number of New York City sites under Dr.

         10  Richardson's command, yields important guidance.

         11  PAD was found to offer a modest, but real increase

         12  in survival.  That increase was restricted to PADs

         13  placed in larger sites, such as airports and busy

         14  public institutions.  For this reason, we agree with

         15  the Council that public access defibrillation can be

         16  a lifesaving intervention under the right

         17  circumstances.

         18                 There was, however, no increase in

         19  survival for victims of arrest in residential

         20  facilities with PADs.  Survival rates for victims of

         21  cardiac arrest continue to be low and, while varying

         22  between studies, are about 20 percent.  It seems

         23  clear that the criteria for PAD to save lives

         24  include placement in sites were there is a large

         25  volume of people, and more importantly, older
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          2  individuals; continuous availability of staff

          3  trained in defibrillator use on site; and a high

          4  likelihood of any cardiac arrest being witnessed in

          5  order to permit access to defibrillation during its

          6  brief window of effectiveness.

          7                 While some of the sites in the

          8  proposed legislation, such as airports and train

          9  stations meet these criteria, other sites -- trains

         10  stations, and I would also add police cars and fire

         11  cars, which have also been found to be effective --

         12  meet these criteria, other sites, such as parks,

         13  small physical activity facilities, or residential

         14  properties will fail to meet them.  If a cardiac

         15  arrest is not witnessed or trained staff is not on

         16  hand, it is highly unlikely that defibrillation will

         17  be performed in time to be effective.  Dr.

         18  Richardson will be able to speak to these findings

         19  from the Trial in greater depth.

         20                 The second question that's posed, is

         21  should their use be broadened?  This question needs

         22  to be to answered taking into account two issues.

         23  The first is, can the proposed legislation have any

         24  harmful effects?  And, the second is, is this the

         25  best use of public and private funds to prevent
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          2  cardiac death in the City?  We understand the

          3  heartfelt position held by many that if a single

          4  life can be saved, no expense should be spared.

          5  Nevertheless, every time the City Council or any

          6  other legislative body approves a budget, a host of

          7  decisions are made that choose between alternative

          8  strategies for improving the health and welfare of

          9  the population.  Obviously, one of our concerns is

         10  that we target our interventions so we can save the

         11  most lives with the limited public health resources

         12  available to us.

         13                 With regard to the first issue of

         14  harmful effects, one concern we have is not to

         15  discourage the development of venues for exercise.

         16  We are currently trying to encourage the

         17  proliferation of centers for exercise in as many

         18  sites as possible.  Many of these will be small,

         19  inexpensive spaces for physical activity, located in

         20  work sites, in parks, or in residences.  Such sites

         21  are likely to contribute significantly to the

         22  prevention of cardiac death by getting New Yorkers

         23  into better shape, where they live and where they

         24  work.  Some cost very little to set up.

         25                 The Department strongly urges that
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          2  the Council avoid adding burdens such as mandatory

          3  purchasing of a PAD, contracting with a physician

          4  and training with staff, of training of staff that

          5  could potentially discourage the opening of such

          6  centers.  Small centers will not have the volume of

          7  people that would justify the placement of a PAD,

          8  making it more complicated to create such a center

          9  may be counterproductive to preventing cardiac

         10  death.

         11                 Second, as regards the best use of

         12  public and private funds, PAD placement can be a

         13  costly intervention, and therefore, needs to be

         14  targeted to the sites where it can be effective.

         15  This is especially so with respect to placement

         16  outside the centers, such as airports, senior

         17  centers, or police cars, where effectiveness has

         18  been demonstrated and where there is a high

         19  likelihood of they're being effectively employed.

         20  The dedication of the same quantity of resources for

         21  promoting New Yorkers' physical activity or towards

         22  addressing smoking, obesity, and identification and

         23  treatment of high blood pressure could avoid far

         24  more cardiac deaths, yet adequate resources are not

         25  currently available for these activities.
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          2                 An additional concern of the

          3  Department with respect to the legislation you're

          4  considering bears upon enforcement considerations

          5  and costs.  While there is no specific provision

          6  regarding enforcement, both bills would amend Title

          7  17 of the City's Administrative Code and impose

          8  significant responsibilities on the Department of

          9  Health and Mental Hygiene, including drafting

         10  regulations and determining the adequacy and

         11  quantity and location of AEDs in an array of

         12  geographic circumstances in a great many buildings

         13  and other public places, as well as matters

         14  involving signs, accompanying fees and required

         15  training, all of which raise an expectation of

         16  enforcement responsibility on the part of the

         17  Department.

         18                 The scope of these mandates involving

         19  many thousands of buildings and other sites, many of

         20  which the DOHMH does not routinely regulate nor

         21  inspect, would require a large inspection force to

         22  assure in compliance and would be costly for the

         23  Department to implement.

         24                 Another concern that we have is that

         25  some sites may find it difficult to comply with
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          2  State law.  In summary, State law has designated the

          3  Regional Emergency Medical Services Council of New

          4  York City, or REMSCO, as the regional coordinator of

          5  emergency medical services in the City, under

          6  Article 30 of State Public Health Law.  An amendment

          7  to Article 30 of the New York State Public Health

          8  Law, enacted in 1998, allows members of the lay

          9  public to become public access defibrillation

         10  providers, or PAD providers, under certain

         11  circumscribed conditions.

         12                 A PAD provider, which can be a person

         13  or organization possessing an AED must have a

         14  written collaborative agreement with an emergency

         15  care health provider, who can be either a physician,

         16  versed in cardiac care, or a hospital that provides

         17  cardiac care.  The written agreement must be filed

         18  with the State Health Department and with the

         19  region's, the region's State Regional EMS Council.

         20                 No person may operate an AED without

         21  completing an approved AED course, with the

         22  exception of licensed health care practitioners and

         23  those possessing prescriptions for the use of an

         24  AED.  All AED operators must undergo approximately

         25  four hours of training by a State- approved
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          2  organization.

          3                 In New York City, REMSCO is charged

          4  with coordinating, collecting information and data,

          5  and assuring quality for this emergency system.  The

          6  PAD provider must notify REMSCO of the existence,

          7  location and type of all AEDs in its possession and

          8  must maintain all the AEDs in its possession

          9  according to manufacturers' standards.  Whenever a

         10  PAD provider uses an AED, that use must be reported

         11  to REMSCO and to the emergency health care provider

         12  with whom there is a collaborative agreement.  The

         13  emergency health care provider must, in turn,

         14  provide REMSCO with relevant quality assurance data,

         15  via written report, on all uses of AEDs covered

         16  under its collaborative agreement.

         17                 Finally, although I'm not a lawyer,

         18  our legal advisors indicate that there may be

         19  significant tort liability concerns that would arise

         20  from the enactment of their, of these bills in their

         21  present form, and that need to be addressed.  The

         22  proposed legislation, as currently formulated, may

         23  create very real liability risks to constituents.

         24  These can extend both to the person who uses the AED

         25  and the owner of the property where it should be
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          2  placed, as well as the City.  Those at risk might

          3  be, for example, religious congregations that run

          4  exercise programs, co- ops, or the little leagues.

          5  The rescuer liability section will not preclude

          6  claims of failure to maintain and test AEDs if, for

          7  example, one is used and proved defective.

          8                 As we said last year, the DOHMH

          9  remains committed to prevention, the strategies that

         10  can save lives by tens of thousands.  Public health

         11  agencies like ours have only recently gained the

         12  broad- based support and some fraction of funding

         13  needed to appropriately address a range of chronic

         14  disease concerns.  Yet, these conditions are the

         15  main killers of our population.  It is imperative

         16  that we work closely together with our legislators,

         17  our communities and their organizations, the

         18  business community and our partners in academic and

         19  clinical medicine, to further reduce the deaths and

         20  suffering engendered by heart disease.

         21                 Chief among the Department's efforts

         22  to prevent death in New York City due to heart

         23  disease are New York City's tobacco control

         24  initiatives.  The contributions of this Council were

         25  key to implementing truly powerful approaches to
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          2  reducing deaths.  These initiatives have reduced

          3  teen smoking, protected virtually all workers from

          4  second- hand smoke, and helped thousands of smokers

          5  to quit.  The recently implemented 2002 Smoke- Free

          6  Air Act, which protects hundreds of thousands of

          7  this City's non- smoking workers from second- hand

          8  smoke will save thousands of lives.

          9                 Helping New Yorkers to keep your

         10  heart healthy is a key objective of the Department's

         11  recently launched Take Care New York campaign.  Our

         12  District Public Health Offices, located in the three

         13  City areas with the highest burden of illness and

         14  premature death, including cardiovascular, the South

         15  Bronx, East and Central Harlem, and North and

         16  Central Brooklyn, include within their community-

         17  based, neighborhood- level health and community

         18  outreach programs, activities such as promoting and

         19  providing free community fitness programs, promoting

         20  physical activity in daycare, after- school programs

         21  in schools, working with local doctors to provide

         22  patients with key services such as smoking cessation

         23  and obesity management.  We are working together

         24  with the Department of Education to revamp school

         25  nutrition to prevent childhood obesity.  We are
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          2  working with businesses throughout the City to

          3  promote worksite wellness programs to improve

          4  employees' cardiovascular health, and with senior

          5  centers to get seniors moving.  Yet, these proven

          6  interventions have very limited financial support,

          7  and as yet, insufficient reach.

          8                 In summary, we remain committed to

          9  the same goal as the sponsors of the legislation

         10  before the Council, reducing cardiac deaths.

         11  Although we have a number of concerns about the very

         12  broad and comprehensive reach of the legislation, we

         13  would appreciate the opportunity to work with the

         14  Council, Committee Members and sponsors of this

         15  legislation, with the purpose of identifying,

         16  clarifying and implementing effective strategies to

         17  reduce the still terrible toll of cardiac disease in

         18  New York City.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  I

         20  have a couple different questions.  I want to ask

         21  some questions and then go to my colleagues and kind

         22  of bounce back and forth.  One of the things, I

         23  mean, in your testimony, you certainly raise --

         24  well, first let me just say, we absolutely want to

         25  work with you on this.  We would like to set up
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          2  meetings, you know, next week with you guys, also

          3  with Legislative Affairs, DCAS, whoever, you know,

          4  Corporate Counsel's Office, and whoever you all

          5  think is appropriate, so can address these issues.

          6  And, certainly on the liability issues, you know, we

          7  would welcome the opportunity to have our lawyers

          8  work with the Corporate Counsel's Office and the Law

          9  Department to address those in the most appropriate

         10  way possible.  So, we very much would want those

         11  meetings to happen as quickly as possible.

         12                 In your testimony, you talk a lot

         13  about, you know, is this the best way to spend

         14  money, as it relates to preventing people from being

         15  stricken with heart disease, and I think that's

         16  certainly an interesting question in all of this.

         17                 But, I have kind of two things that

         18  come to mind as it relates to that.  As I understand

         19  it, and I'm not a doctor, and most of this is coming

         20  from with meeting with impacted families, American

         21  Heart Association, and others in preparation for

         22  these hearings.  Some of the, but as I understand

         23  it, some of the reasons why one could need an AED to

         24  save their life, could come from heart conditions,

         25  which are, in fact, not caused by obesity or smoking
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          2  or the proximity, you know, second- hand smoke, or

          3  nutrition, or any of these issues that in fact, you

          4  know, tragically, the two young men that Council

          5  Member Oddo referenced were in probably peak

          6  physical health.  You know, not smokers, athletes,

          7  you know et cetera.  But, they had, you know,

          8  defects to their hearts that an AED could have saved

          9  their lives, that none of the outreach that you're

         10  talking about, although they are definitely programs

         11  we should engage in, would have saved those two

         12  individuals lives.

         13                 As I understand it, I don't know the

         14  percentage, but not an insignificant percentage of

         15  the people who could be saved by having AEDs in more

         16  public places are people with problems like that,

         17  that are different type of medical problems, than

         18  the types which are caused or made worse by smoking,

         19  second hand smoke or nutritional issues.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:

         21  You're quite correct Councilwoman.  The difference

         22  between public health and clinical medicine is that

         23  in public health, we try to deal with how we can

         24  best improve the health of populations --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Sure, sure --
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  -- If

          3  you look at cardiac deaths, the vast majority of

          4  cardiac deaths are due to typical coronary heart

          5  disease, which has gone undetected prior, often

          6  undetected prior to the arrest of the patient.

          7  However, there is a small proportion -- I think Dr.

          8  Richardson could probably speak better to how large

          9  that proportion is, that might be due to congenital

         10  heart defects, to trauma, to other events which can

         11  take place --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- I mean, I

         13  think --

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         15  The defibrillators will be effective in those cases.

         16    They will be less effective -- not that, they'll

         17  be much more costly per life saved than other

         18  preventive interventions implemented at the level of

         19  the community --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         22  They certainly can save lives.  It will cost more

         23  for each life than other interventions.  Our society

         24  has traditionally given priority to the high

         25  technology interventions over prevention.  I would
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          2  like to see us in the society where we can fund both

          3  perfectly. That's not yet the case, and I think the

          4  City has left it to the wisdom of this Council to

          5  make some of these very difficult decisions about

          6  how resources are used.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Yes it has.  You

          8  know, I think the, and maybe we need to ask the

          9  other experts this question, I mean, I think the

         10  issue is probably the population to look at this may

         11  not be -- we may not be best served by looking at

         12  the entire universe of people who have or suffer

         13  from cardiac disease, might be more better kind of

         14  control group, sort of speak, may be looking at the

         15  folks who are in the places we're talking about,

         16  engaged in the activities, which could lead to a

         17  cardiac incident.

         18                 I think if we did, I don't know, but

         19  I would guess that if we looked at that population,

         20  as opposed to the entire population who has cardiac

         21  problems, we might actually find a kind of a higher

         22  correlation between folks who could, who have

         23  conditions that are not going to be helped by the

         24  important type of public health outreach you're

         25  talking about, but could be served by the presence

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  of AEDs.  And, that might be something for us to

          3  look at in discussions outside, following this

          4  hearing, or, you know, with the other experts today.

          5                 You know, as it relates to the public

          6  health outreach initiatives that you're talking

          7  about, I agree with you. I mean, they, we need more

          8  of those.  In fact, I just have to say, some of the

          9  ones you reference in here, were cut by Mayor

         10  Bloomberg and restored by the Council.  Yes, Mayor

         11  Bloomberg and myself and others passed the Smoke-

         12  Free Indoor Air Act, but in his first budget, Mayor

         13  Bloomberg zeroed out all the funding for all of the

         14  cessation programs at HHC, which notwithstanding the

         15  recent contribution of $2 million they have had to

         16  pay with other funds, and significantly cut the

         17  funding that was in the budget for youth and other

         18  work around anti- tobacco initiatives within the

         19  Department of Health, which only, we were able to

         20  restore a portion of which, of that, from the

         21  Council's, because of the Council.

         22                 So, I think, from your testimony, if

         23  one stepped into this today, not having kind of been

         24  involved in government before, one might think that

         25  there was a pot of money, and we were choosing how
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          2  to spend it.  But, there actually isn't a pot of

          3  money, and part of the reason why there isn't a pot

          4  of money is because Mayor Bloomberg has made cuts

          5  and taken money out of the exact type of initiatives

          6  you were saying should be, money should be spent on

          7  instead of this.  So, I don't, I just think it's

          8  important to say, because it's not like we're saying

          9  taking money away from that to this.  We're, in

         10  fact, the people who have kept what little money

         11  there is in some of these outreach programs.

         12                 That said, I want to ask about the

         13  Office of Emergency Management initiative, which had

         14  gone from $2 million to about $500,000, is that

         15  correct?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         17  would prefer that you ask those questions directly

         18  to OEM.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Are they here?

         20  Okay.  So, we'll send them to them in writing.  When

         21  they, when we had our last hearing, there was

         22  testimony that there were 20 more defibrillators

         23  that had to be placed in agencies.  DCAS might need

         24  to answer this.  Have those been placed? And just

         25  identify yourself for the record.
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          2                 MS. BLUM:  Sure, I'm Jennifer Blum

          3  from DCAS and I'm joined by Warner Johnston, the

          4  Director of Communications. We are not responsible

          5  for the placement of the defibrillators. We do

          6  manage the public buildings, but the placement was

          7  done by the Office of Emergency Management.  We have

          8  some general knowledge about where some of the them

          9  are, but --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Do you know if

         11  those remaining, do you know if all have been

         12  placed?

         13                 MS. BLUM:  I do not.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  All right.  Well,

         15  if you could, we will send questions to OEM, but

         16  also if DCAS could check with OEM on that and get

         17  back to us, that would be helpful. Council Member

         18  Oddo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you Madam

         20  Chair.  I'm going to actually follow- up on your

         21  last question, because it sort of jumped off the

         22  page to me.  But, let me just begin by thanking you

         23  Dr. Silver, for your testimony and I certainly look

         24  forward to all of us working together on this.  Just

         25  to follow- up on Chair Quinn's question, on page two
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          2  of your testimony, you say, and you use the word

          3  currently, currently the OEM coordinates a program,

          4  and it talks about the placement in Staten Island

          5  Ferry and Terminals, et cetera.  Does anyone know

          6  when the last AED was placed and where it was, the

          7  location of that AED? Most recent, I should say.

          8                 MS. BLUM:  I think all questions

          9  about the current Public Access Defibrillator

         10  program need to be addressed directly to OEM.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  I take

         12  exception to the use of the word currently, it gives

         13  the impression that we have an on- going Public

         14  Access Defibrillation program in the City of New

         15  York, and that OEM is working with other agencies in

         16  placing AEDs.  The examples you use, in the 183, I

         17  might be off on this, but I don't think I am.  I

         18  think that was Phase One of the Giuliani

         19  Administration's plan, and that never reached Phase

         20  Two and Phase Three.  So, I have to just, Madam

         21  Chair sort of sanitize the record.  I don't think

         22  there is an on- going program to place AEDs in

         23  public locations, and frankly, it's individual

         24  Council Members who are putting money in trying to

         25  get AEDs placed.  So, we'll take that up with OEM,
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          2  but I don't want anybody to walk away from this

          3  hearing thinking that we have an on- going program.

          4  We don't.  That money was cut.

          5                 Dr. Silver, you, when you talked on

          6  page four about your, the difficulties such a bill

          7  would engender for, in terms of implementation from

          8  DOH's perspective, let me ask you, how large is the

          9  inspection force that assures compliance with the

         10  smoking bill?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Okay.

         12    Well first, on OEM, thank you for you question.

         13  Those were the data that we received from OEM, but

         14  we haven't been able to meet with them in person, so

         15  I would refer your questions to them.  But, thank

         16  you for your clarification.  The Department has, I

         17  believe, that our smoking bill enforcement is being

         18  done by different agencies.  We have restaurant

         19  inspectors, who inspect the compliance in

         20  restaurants.  I'm not sure of the size of the force,

         21  but we can check that for you --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But the --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         24  The, some of its delegated to the Department of

         25  Consumer Affairs, for example, the verification of
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          2  the compliance with non- sales to minors, and so

          3  forth.  I don't have the figures for the size of the

          4  force. We do not habitually inspect buildings, for

          5  example, which would be a major challenge under the

          6  legislation you propose.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  My point is,

          8  when we passed the smoking bill, we didn't have a

          9  detailed conversation or ensure the fact that there

         10  was going to be a cadre of inspectors. My real point

         11  is the fact that if we establish a legal protocol

         12  and we establish a standard of care within certain

         13  industries, it makes the bill, to a large degree,

         14  like many of the bills in the City of New York and

         15  the State of New York, self- enforcing.

         16                 If we establish as a standard of care

         17  an illegal standard by this bill that gyms across

         18  the City have to had AEDs, that in and of itself

         19  will ensure to a large degree that most

         20  establishments will follow the law.  So, I don't see

         21  the need to have this large cadre of DOH inspectors

         22  going out to all the Dolphin Gyms across the City to

         23  make sure they have an AED.  I think if they're good

         24  business people, and they are, they'll realize that

         25  they have to do it and they put themselves at
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          2  greater risk by not doing it.  So, I think that,

          3  again, it sort of leaves one with the impression

          4  that it's an obstacle that's tough to overcome.  I

          5  really don't think it's that tough to overcome with

          6  respect to inspections.  It's going to be a self

          7  enforcing bill to a large degree.

          8                 The other question, again, sticking

          9  with the line of your language about that there

         10  somehow would be a chilling effect on the opening of

         11  gyms and exercise locations if we implement this

         12  bill.  What is that based on?  Why do you think that

         13  establishments are -- I don't think we're going to

         14  curtail physical activity by requiring gyms across

         15  the City to have AEDs. What's the rationale to that

         16  testimony?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         18  actually think that it could have a curtailing

         19  effect.  The cost of the AED runs about between

         20  $2,000 and $4,000.  It means that you have to have a

         21  staff member who is trained to do so.  If you go and

         22  look at many establishments, gyms are not like large

         23  commercial gyms. You have many establishments that

         24  are putting together small physical activity centers

         25  in work sites, in houses, a room that has five or
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          2  six pieces of equipment, where workers can exercise.

          3  I recently stayed in a hotel that had a small

          4  exercise facility with no fixed staff, and so forth.

          5                 The way the legislation is currently

          6  framed, it would suggest to me that this type of

          7  facility would be required to have an AED and that

          8  might be practically the cost of what it costs them

          9  to set up the exercise space in the first place.

         10  So, both the -- so I think yes, compared to the

         11  investment cost of doing a small exercise center, or

         12  even setting up a baseball diamond.  The cost of an

         13  AED can be quite significant  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I think --

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: We

         16  should take that into account in properly siting

         17  these facilities.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I think then

         19  what we would need to do is clarify in the language

         20  in the definitions of public places, specifically

         21  what we mean by gyms.  I don't if anyone testifying

         22  or anyone in the audience saw a recent HBO sports,

         23  Bryant Gumble Real Sports.  They did a piece on the

         24  AEDs in athletic facilities, and they pointed to a

         25  Harvard Medical School study indicating the higher
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          2  incidents of sudden cardiac arrest in gyms.  The

          3  fact of the matter is we have a population that, you

          4  know, folks in their forties and fifties decide that

          5  they want to be able to fit in those new BMWs and

          6  you have people that never exercised before, now

          7  going into gyms and they're throwing up all kinds of

          8  weights, and it's, if you look at the study, the

          9  study shows that people -- and it doesn't even have

         10  to be the folks in the forties and the fifties.  It

         11  could be, as we referenced earlier.  We'll clarify

         12  the language, but I, you know, I don't think it will

         13  have a chilling effect, and I think as the Chair

         14  indicated earlier, there's testimony that will be

         15  read into the record later on from some folks in the

         16  industry that support the concept.  They need some

         17  clarification and we're willing to sit down and talk

         18  with them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I just want to

         20  add for the record that what Council Member Oddo is

         21  referring to is testimony from the New York Sports

         22  Club, and certainly they are a very large part of

         23  the gym industry in the City.  And, that they, you

         24  know, a company that if the number of places you

         25  have seems to be an indication of if you're doing
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          2  well, then they're doing very well.  That they are

          3  supportive of this, I think, you know, goes a long

          4  way.  If we need a little clarification, we can do

          5  that. But, I think that sends a very strong message

          6  about this.

          7                 If I could just interrupt for one

          8  second, I wanted to ask, in your concerns about this

          9  bill and the requirement of AEDs potentially having

         10  a negative effect as it relates to there being more

         11  workout places and people using them, one of the

         12  places, the agencies that the Office of Emergency

         13  Management Initiatives says should have AEDs are in

         14  Parks Department buildings and facilities.  So, the

         15  fact that the Parks Department is putting them in

         16  their buildings, rec centers and things like that,

         17  and that OEM does that as part of their initiative

         18  seems to run a little bit counter to the Department

         19  of Health and Mental Hygiene's concern.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Two

         21  comments. Sports clubs, per se, for example, can be

         22  quite large --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         25  Well structured spaces, with a large flow of people.

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2    The likelihood of a cardiac arrest occurring is

          3  directly proportionate to the number of people who

          4  transit through a place or exercise there.  That's

          5  in contrast to these many other types of sports, of

          6  venues where sports are carried out or physical

          7  exercise may be taking place, and it might be a

          8  slightly different situation.

          9                 As regard Parks, if I'm not mistaken,

         10  the language in some of the bill says parks, not

         11  Parks and Recreation facilities --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- No, I'm not

         13  taking about the bill, I'm talking about what OEM

         14  does is have them in Parks Department buildings --

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         16  Right --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Like rec

         18  centers.  So I raise that --

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         20  Absolutely --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Because it

         22  seems to run counter to your concern about having

         23  them in athletic buildings. If you're only concerned

         24  about very small places like a hotel that has, you

         25  know, three bikes and a treadmill, maybe I'm
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          2  misunderstanding.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

          4  think there's an issue of proportion when you get to

          5  larger scale facilities like rec centers, it's

          6  probably more reasonable.  I think we should

          7  probably use and look at -- we were unable to obtain

          8  it prior to this hearing --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Okay --

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         11  Given the short notice the data that is collected,

         12  for example, by the fire department, which can tell

         13  us, you know, which addresses have heart attacks

         14  occurring, with what frequency.  You know, through

         15  the use of intelligent analysis of that type of

         16  data, we can probably have very good guidance as to

         17  where we can effectively place these devices.  So, I

         18  think that would be a very important tool to be used

         19  by the Council and by the Administration to

         20  appropriately site AEDs.

         21                 I think when I was talking about the

         22  resources previous, in response to your previous

         23  question, Councilwoman, Chairwoman Quinn, the

         24  legislation creates a financial obligation both to

         25  the public and the private sector to carry out the
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          2  mandate.  We want to make sure that, first of all,

          3  they're mandated to do so in those settings where it

          4  really works, and it hasn't been demonstrated to

          5  work in certain kinds of settings. So, we want to

          6  give clear priority to those settings where we know

          7  this technology can be effective.

          8                 Then, there's the second issue of

          9  comparison with preventive measures, which is a

         10  second issue that's a broader societal priorities

         11  issue.  But, certainly, to the extent that there is

         12  a mandate for, any mandate for a placement of AEDs,

         13  it should be in those locations where we have good

         14  evidence that they are effective.  So, we would be

         15  very happy to work with you on trying to devise a

         16  mechanism to define that better.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And we'd love to

         18  look at that data with you.  You know, I think the

         19  issue of the bill being overly burdensome on even

         20  smaller athletic facilities, is probably not a big

         21  problem, and if there's some small clarification in

         22  the language, I'm sure we could achieve that. But, I

         23  think, you know, the fact that the Parks

         24  Department's done it, places like New York Sports

         25  Club are doing it, we can figure out a way to

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  address any technical miswording.

          3                 I think, you know, we can again

          4  address technical miswording, but most of the public

          5  places that I think the intent was to cover, are, in

          6  fact, those that are covered, public places, by the

          7  OEM Initiative.  So, we should sit down and make

          8  sure we're all reading the bill the same way, et

          9  cetera.  Because we don't really see it having a

         10  large fiscal impact on the City, because I don't

         11  think we see the bill doing that much more than what

         12  OEM has done, except for codifying and making it

         13  permanent on the public side, which is, obviously,

         14  very significant, and then on the private side, it's

         15  different than that.  But, I want to go back to

         16  Council Member Oddo, I apologize.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Just two quick

         18  last points. One is that you express some concerns

         19  about residential properties, and admittedly, the

         20  bill right now is written that says any privately

         21  owned building with a total occupancy of 600 or more

         22  people, and that's something that we certainly would

         23  be open to.  We really were talking, initially, the

         24  genesis of this bill was really work places.  So,

         25  we'd be willing to work with you on the residential.
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          2                 Just the last point is, understanding

          3  any, undertaking any program in New York City really

          4  shouldn't be compared to undertaking it in some

          5  other city because of the scope of the breath of New

          6  York.   If cities like Las Vegas and Miami and other

          7  cities who have found the means and the ways to

          8  achieve public access defibrillation, certainly the

          9  City of New York can.  So, I look forward to working

         10  with you in achieving that.  Thank you Madam Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         12  much.  I really want to just, for the record again,

         13  very much thank Council Member Oddo, who really has

         14  been just so committed to this issue of AEDs and

         15  making sure that they are available and made

         16  available in more places, so they can save more

         17  lives.  It's really been kind of a singular focus on

         18  his part, and it's really his focus that has helped

         19  the Committee remained focused on this, and when

         20  this bill gets signed into law, it will really

         21  largely be because of Council Member Oddo's hard

         22  work.  Council Member Reed.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you Madam

         24  Chair.  I appreciate the hearing and the sentiments

         25  of Council Member Oddo. I second certainly
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          2  appreciate that this is something he's been

          3  crusading on basically since he's been in the

          4  Council, and I think it's a good thing to do.

          5                 Not to sound like the negative person

          6  in here, but I don't think we could save everybody's

          7  lives from everything. Usually, you know, a tragedy

          8  happens and the first response of people is, you

          9  know, what is the City government -- what is your

         10  government doing about it.  We are certainly trying

         11  to see what it is appropriate for the government to

         12  be -- how the government should appropriately

         13  respond and/or encourage through legislation that

         14  the private sector become involved.  So, some of the

         15  caution that you put in your testimony is

         16  appreciated.

         17                 However, I think there is a way and a

         18  middle ground to find success, saying we are making

         19  the best effort that we can, understanding that we

         20  cannot predict all the circumstances in which people

         21  might need these defibrillators, or anything else

         22  that may happen to people.  I just lost one of my

         23  closest friends, who was an oncologist and had just

         24  had a physical three weeks prior to falling down

         25  dead while he was looking at buying a new home for
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          2  his family.  Now, he had an aneurism.  Nobody

          3  expected Al to die.  2,500 people, literally, were

          4  the funeral, just trying to answer the questions.

          5  Was there anything anybody could do?  Well, the

          6  answer was no.  So, these things happen to people.

          7  But, the same time, we have, I think, an obligation,

          8  to look and see what we can do.

          9                 In terms of the objections that I'm

         10  hearing from the Administration, let me point out

         11  that I get frustrated at these hearings because, so

         12  often, whether it's me Chairing the Consumer

         13  Affairs, or my colleagues in their other situations,

         14  we find that some of the most important questions

         15  for our hearings, come from some other agency, who

         16  just happens not to be at the table, when it's clear

         17  that the questions are going to need to be directed

         18  to those other agencies.  So, it's a little

         19  frustrating because if we know that OEM is a

         20  principal player in this, why OEM is not at the

         21  table today astounds me.  We're all trying to get

         22  real work done.  We're not trying to just heap

         23  ridicule and blame on the Administration.  We're

         24  trying to get real work done.

         25                 I would agree with you about the
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          2  issue of the sports facilities.  But, I think that,

          3  you know, we could certainly say that sports

          4  facilities or other private facilities that have

          5  more than, pick a number, 100 members, 200 members

          6   -- we'll find some number that's appropriate --

          7  would be obligated to have these.  I would think

          8  that in some circumstances, their insurance premiums

          9  might go down if they actually had this equipment on

         10  site.  So, there might be offsetting to what we're

         11  seeing as a cost.

         12                 Another question that you could

         13  perhaps help me with is, how much do these AEDs

         14  cost?  Keep hearing about the cost.  I have no idea

         15  what one is, the purchase of one is.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  On

         17  the size of the sports facilities, I'm sure that we

         18  can reach an appropriate, or the proper indications

         19  that an appropriate wording could be identified for

         20  how to do that.  As regards to the cost, I believe

         21  that my colleague from DCAS is up to date on this.

         22                 MS. BLUM:  Currently on the DCAS'

         23  requirements contract, we're paying $2,700.00 with

         24  ECG for the entire package and $2,200.00 without --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: $2,700.00 with
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          2  what?

          3                 MS. BLUM:  We're paying $2,700.00

          4  with ECG and $2,200.00 without --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And remind me --

          6                 MS. BLUM:  However --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- ECG is what

          8  again?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:

         10  Electrocardiogram.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Oh, okay,

         12  right, I see. With the two, okay I got it.  Got a

         13  lot of alphabets going on today, right.

         14                 MS. BLUM:  It's also important to

         15  note that we have a solicitation on the street now.

         16  So, the cost of these are unknown.  We'll be, we'll

         17  be, we'll have a new contract in place probably in

         18  the early Fall, and I don't know what the cost will

         19  be at that time.  Those are the costs under the

         20  current contract.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Just

         22  pointing out that for a private sector organization

         23  that purchases one defibrillator, as opposed to the

         24  City purchasing on a large contract, these prices

         25  might be somewhat different.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well, that's my

          3  point, I guess.  So that -- how many are we under

          4  contract to purchase now?

          5                 MS. BLUM:  We have a requirements

          6  contract --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  A requirements

          8  contract --

          9                 MS. BLUM: So, it's open-ended --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:   So that's the

         11  under $100,000.00?  I mean $100,000.00.

         12                 MS. BLUM:  No, DCAS buys all the

         13  goods for the City of New York --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Right.

         15                 MS. BLUM:  -- So it's an open-ended

         16  requirements contract, meaning that it can be, it

         17  can --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- As many as

         19  we need --

         20                 MS. BLUM:  -- As many as we need.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But, so we're

         22  not getting --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member

         24  Reed, can I just, for one second, let Council Member

         25  Oddo add a little bit on this point and then go back
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          2  to the agencies, because he has some --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I just want to

          4  point out --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Knowledge --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Council

          7  Member Reed, that the City of New York decides to

          8  pay $2,200.00 for an AED.  There are other places

          9  that are paying a whole hell of a lot less than that

         10  for AEDs, and the Chair and Council Member Chair

         11  Moskowitz and I raised this issue about the amount

         12  that the City paid for the AEDs that are going in

         13  our schools -- my goodness -- and --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- There is a law

         15   --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- There is a

         17  law --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Two now, even

         19   --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- And, so I

         21  think you're going to hear testimony from folks,

         22  after this panel, that will tell you that there,

         23  there are AEDs being purchased for significantly

         24  less than that.

         25                 MS. BLUM:  Council Member Oddo, our
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          2  bid opening is May 7th at 10:30 at the municipal

          3  building.  I encourage all of those suppliers who

          4  can provide them to the City of New York at

          5  significantly less money --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is that --

          7                 MS. BLUM:   Please step forward

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Is that bid

          9  open to all manufacturers, or it for Phillips

         10  exclusively?

         11                 MS. BLUM:  It's Phillips Heart Start

         12  Defibrillators.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay, so when

         14  you open that bid up to the three other

         15  manufacturers that, collectively, would Phillips

         16  make up 80 percent of the market, then maybe you'll

         17  get prices like you have in University of Nevada,

         18  138 units at $1,300.00.  Or, how about the State of

         19  Louisiana, just paid, for 27 units, just paid

         20  $1,800.00?  Or, how about the City of Denton

         21  (phonetic) that just bought 25 units at $1,600.00?

         22  I'm glad you opened that door, because that's going

         23  to be the topic of another hearing, how the City of

         24  New York wants to pull a little Snapple deal with

         25  AEDs.  Okay?  So, it's more important, instead of me
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          2  being there, when you open the bid up, it would be

          3  good if Cardiac Science and Medtronics (phonetic)

          4  and Zoll (phonetic) and all the other manufacturers

          5  had a chance to bid and maybe the prices would be

          6  less than the $2,200.00 you just quoted Council

          7  Member Reed.

          8                 MS. BLUM:  The reason this is a

          9  brand- specific procurement is because we have

         10  defibrillators currently in our buildings.  We have

         11  currently -- we currently have people trained and

         12  there was a serious public safety concern that you

         13  don't confuse the process by adding new machinery

         14  and equipment --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Because the

         16  Phillips machines are fundamentally different than

         17  the other manufacturers, because a person that once

         18  was trained on Phillips could not possibly know how

         19  to work a defibrillator made by Cardiac Science,

         20  Medtronics and Zoll?  That was the serious public

         21  concern.

         22                 MS. BLUM:  This was done according to

         23  the PPB Rules and there was a public safety --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right, and the

         25  PPB Rules says it could be brand specific.  That I
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          2  don't dispute.  Does that mean that that's the best

          3  use of City tax dollars?  I think not.  And, you

          4  know what? I'm glad we're going to have a public

          5  discussion about this because somebody at DCAS,

          6  somebody in this Administration has to explain why

          7  they're letting out another bid, exclusive to one

          8  company, and costing the tax payers a whole lot of

          9  money.  They're paying more for those AEDs than they

         10  would be paying, if you opened it up to three other

         11  manufacturers.

         12                 MS. BLUM:  I appreciate your concerns

         13  and I'll definitely bring them back.  Thank you.  I

         14  look forward to that. Thanks.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I think we may

         16  need an AED in this room soon.  Alrighty, we got one

         17  over there that I know for a fact cost less than --

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         19  Hopefully, you've all been exercising and eating

         20  properly --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: There we go, there

         22  we go, we're good to go.

         23                 Council Member Reed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Back to you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, it's good

          3  to see Council Member Oddo animated.  He is such a

          4  shrinking violet and as, you know, because I love to

          5  support my republican colleagues on the Council, and

          6  we're working well together on this bill, I could

          7  see.

          8                 Obviously, we would like to see

          9  opening up the opportunity for us to get as cost-

         10  effective purchase as possible. I'm not as well

         11  versed as he is, it is somewhat surprising to me

         12  that maybe the technology is so radically different,

         13  but, I don't, not sure that I could envision that as

         14  a layperson.  The training that we're doing right

         15  now, we, as I understand, we have these now in

         16  recreation centers, public recreation centers?  Is

         17  that the --

         18                 MS. BLUM: I believe there are some,

         19  yes, but OEM could best tell you where all the

         20  defibrillators are placed, it's their program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well, I think

         22  in your testimony, didn't you say that in the

         23  recreation centers, in the parks, that we, in the

         24  large recreation centers there are?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I
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          2  think OEM can inform you better.  What I have here

          3  from OEM was the Departments that had the devices

          4  placed.  So parks received 51 of them, but it

          5  doesn't speak to the exact location, whether it was

          6  in the rec centers or where it was.  So, you'd have

          7  to verify that with OEM.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Okay, just for

          9  clarification Madam Chair, did we invite OEM to this

         10  hearing?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  You know, we

         12  didn't invite OEM --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- We did not?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- No, because

         15  they weren't specifically impacted by the bill as it

         16  related to, you know, their buildings.  We probably,

         17  obviously, in hindsight, should have invited OEM,

         18  and we're going to send a letter to the Office of

         19  Legislative Affairs and OEM, right after this

         20  hearing, asking for a specific list of where the

         21  defibs are in the City buildings, and we will share

         22  that with the Committee Members, and --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- Well thank

         24  you, and I'm sure we'll be having another hearing on

         25  this?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Probably, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So, could we

          4  ask OEM to be here?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Since it seems

          7  that there is a --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Absolutely --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- Lot of

         10  questions that arise that they're the only people

         11  that can answer.  Maybe --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Absolutely --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- You can

         14  hedge --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Can we --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- I guess --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Council

         18  Member, I just want to apologize again for us not

         19  inviting OEM, though I do think it might have been

         20  useful had somebody mentioned to us that it was a

         21  glaring omission.  But, nonetheless, we will take

         22  responsibility for having made the mistake.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  How much

         25  training, how much time do you think it takes to
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          2  train a person to use this equipment?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

          4  believe it's a four hour training session, but I

          5  would suggest you ask that to Dr. Richardson, as

          6  well, depending on the organization that's doing the

          7  training, the interval of refresher courses also

          8  varies.  So, American Heart Organization is,

          9  Association is doing training and a couple of

         10  others.  I think one is every two years, their

         11  recommended time, one is yearly.  Some works suggest

         12  that refresher courses might be necessary even more

         13  frequently than that.  I believe Dr. Richardson can

         14  speak to that in more detail when she testifies now.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well, thank

         16  you.  I would, at least in the testimony, I didn't

         17  see that being the biggest obstacle.  Often times,

         18  we hear about the amount of time it takes because

         19  we're paying people while they're being trained as a

         20  concern raised by the Administration.  Unless I

         21  missed it in the testimony, I wasn't hearing that as

         22  an objection.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  My

         24  impression, it depends a lot on the type of facility

         25  you're talking about and what kind of staff they
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          2  have.  There might be more difficulty with actually

          3  having the trained person present on site, you know,

          4  a building that has, you know, one super, or a park

          5  that doesn't have fixed staff, you know, at the

          6  park.  I think the difficulty might be greater in

          7  relation to the physical presence of the trained

          8  person than the actual time --

          9            COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- You know  --

         10            ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         11  Invested in training --

         12            COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  -- I don't disagree

         13  with that, and I understand that.  But, we want to

         14  try to get as many of the pieces in place as

         15  possible.  So, I think the piece about being held

         16  harmless is important because you may have a piece

         17  of equipment nobody's operated, but you know, it's

         18  an interested thing, if we had the equipment, there

         19  may be somebody.  So, if we just sort of use the --

         20  well, we won't have anybody to operate it, so we

         21  shouldn't have it there.  Let's at least have the

         22  equipment.

         23                 I know, you know, I'm a big advocate

         24  of renovating parks.  It seems to me that even if

         25  this was a part of the renovation cost, the capital

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  cost, when we're doing the buildings, and we said,

          3  you know, if we're going to be renovating a park and

          4  recreation center, what we ought to also be looking

          5  at in the total package is to have that with a

          6  state- of- the- art AED. That might be something

          7  that we put in the specs.

          8                 God knows the Parks Department

          9  certainly the pricetag for, you know, fixing a park

         10  is so ridiculous these days in terms of what they

         11  add on.  The private sector could fix a park for

         12  $500,000.00, the Parks Department needs one and a

         13  half million.  So, I don't think that, you know,

         14  even if it was $2,700.00, there's a lot more I sure,

         15  Council Member, could get that.  But, I'm looking

         16  forward to us working this out together, the

         17  Administration and the Council.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Our

         19  surveys in New York City schools are showing 44

         20  percent of our children are overweight or obese.

         21  For example, our kids are not going out for

         22  exercise, they have no phys ed. Teachers, they have

         23  no playgrounds in many areas because of funding

         24  difficulties.  I, quite frankly, speaking quite

         25  frankly, think that first I'd rather have a
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          2  playground and a place for them to exercise and that

          3  AED would be lower down on my priorities list --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, maybe --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

          6  Even though, even though it can be effective if an

          7  adverse event happens there.  So, I think that

          8  choice of location is, you know, is a very critical

          9  issue how we do that, you know, in a prudent and

         10  most effective way.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I guess I'm not

         12  really understanding your comment.  I'm saying when

         13  we renovate parks. I take pride in perhaps being, I

         14  know my colleagues might be upset, but I know

         15  certainly in Manhattan, and I think in the entire

         16  Council, I have funded more renovations of parks,

         17  public space, than any other Council Member.  That's

         18  what I set out to do because I know young people

         19  need exercise.  It's not the Council's fault that

         20  the gyms are in such poor repair, that the kids

         21  can't work in them.  It's not the Council's fault

         22  that we don't have public playgrounds.  Nothing gets

         23  renovated in a public park or a playground unless

         24  the Council puts the money there.  That's what the

         25  Administration, whether it was Dinkins or Guiliani
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          2  or this Administration, has said about public

          3  recreation.

          4                 I'm working with the Department of

          5  Health and Dr. Goodman up on 115th Street and

          6  Lexington Avenue right now.  We just finished two

          7  new parks.  So, please let's not talk about the

          8  children being obese or the adults being obese.  The

          9  Council is knocking themselves silly to fix the

         10  things that the Administration doesn't bother to

         11  fix, even though they tell us that we need exercise,

         12  except they leave it to the Council to come up with

         13  the money to the exercise.  All I'm suggesting is

         14  that when we allocate money to fix recreation

         15  centers, that we include in that contract, the

         16  purchase of an AED.

         17                 So, let's not open that window about

         18  what it is that's not funded for a safe place for

         19  the kids to go get exercise.  We have at Jefferson

         20  Park, at my insistence, a walking track, a real,

         21  live walking track.  Not the cement thing, but, now

         22  when I put the million dollars in there, I was told

         23  by the Parks Department, well, never mind that

         24  walking track, just let's make it a bigger soccer

         25  field.
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          2                 Because, what they can really do, is

          3  if they really want to walk or run, they can walk

          4  over the bridge and go to Randalls Island, that's

          5  what they told me.  So, I said, well, you what, as

          6  long as I'm the Council Member, that's not going to

          7  happen, and we allocated another half a million

          8  dollars to put the walking track there.  So, now

          9  there's middle aged women that have their two clubs

         10  to walk around there every morning.  So, be careful

         11  when you open the door about what isn't been fixed

         12  to give recreation to people, because your own

         13  Administration tells me to tell my constituents,

         14  they don't need to walk.  Or, if they want to walk,

         15  walk over the river and go some place else.  Thank

         16  you Madam Chair.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Thank

         18  you for support for exercise in the City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  I

         20  just want to say, you know, we were kind of -- I

         21  want to say two things.  I think Council Member Reed

         22  raised some excellent points and, you know, we

         23  should, in the context of this legislation, look at

         24  the issue of whether when there are, we recognize

         25  DCAS, you said you had to leave, so that's fine --
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          2                 MS. BLUM: I'm sorry, Chairman Quinn,

          3  I apologize, I have to go testify downstairs  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's fine.

          5                 MS. BLUM: But my colleague will be

          6  here.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's terrific,

          8  thank you. You know, we should certainly think, and

          9  perhaps even speak to the City Council's finance

         10  staff about when we do, as this bill moves forward,

         11  capital initiatives for parks, recreation

         12  facilities, et cetera, whether we should make that

         13  part of the standard contract, that there be this

         14  money in there for an AED. I think that's an

         15  excellent suggestion.  I have actually a rec center

         16  opening in my district next month, and I'm actually

         17  going make sure I talk to the folks at Parks about

         18  that.

         19                 Also, I just want to add to what

         20  Council Member Reed said, you know, what we're

         21  talking about with parks rehabilitation is the

         22  capital budget.  That's not necessarily what we're

         23  talking about as it relates to either the public

         24  health awareness programs, or I don't think the

         25  contract for these that's being RFP'd is a capital

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  contract.  I think it's an expense contract -- is it

          3  a capital or is it an expense?  I'm sorry, just

          4  identify yourself for the record.

          5                 MR. JOHNSTON:  My name is Warner

          6  Johnston, I'm the DCAS Director of Communications.

          7  DCAS only deals with expense contracts.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  So,

          9  they're obviously part of the same budget, but in

         10  some ways they're two very distinct and separate

         11  things.  I think we need to recognize this as we

         12  look comprehensively at what the City's commitment

         13  is to health and cardiac care.  We were kind of

         14  joking around with Council Member Oddo about Cardiac

         15  Science and the different, the price, and whether

         16  the RFP was closed in a way that was detrimental to

         17  this overall initiative and causing perhaps inflated

         18  costs.

         19                 We were kind of teasing him, but in

         20  all seriousness, that is a very important question.

         21  One we had actually not planned, Council Member Oddo

         22  and I, to raise today. We didn't want to -- no, no,

         23  no, we didn't really want to mix that in with

         24  today's hearing, but since it was raised by the

         25  agency, not by the Council, I think Council Member
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          2  Oddo was very correct in responding.  And, there

          3  will be follow- up on that, if that could be

          4  communicated to folks, the Commissioners as DCAS and

          5  DOH, and wherever else is appropriate.  Because we

          6  do have serious concern, the Committee and Council

          7  Member Oddo and myself about this RFP, how it's

          8  structured and whether that is resulting in the best

          9  machines or higher priced machines than we should

         10  have to purchase.

         11                 That said, Council Member Sears has a

         12  question, and I want to say we were joined by

         13  Council Member Yvette Clarke of Brooklyn, who had to

         14  leave.  I'm not sure whether she's going to the

         15  hearing across the street, the one downtown or the

         16  one in Chambers, so.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you

         18  Madam Chair.  If I can get back on track, because I

         19  think the intent of this bill, do you agree with the

         20  intent of what this Intro. Is about to do? I'd like

         21  to know if you agree with that.  Set aside financial

         22  cost, set aside all the wrap- arounds that obviously

         23  within another hearing, or within this hearing, and

         24  I've heard that we would go back and look at this.

         25  But, I would like a yes or a no for what the bill is
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          2  about.  So you agree with it?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:

          4  Reducing the mortality of sudden cardiac death as an

          5  objective for legislation?  Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  So, then you

          7  agree with the intent of this bill?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  The

          9  intent of reduction of cardiac death, absolutely --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Okay, so --

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         12  Whether the bill is currently --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  I'll take

         14  that as a yes, because a no would be a no.  So, I'm

         15  taking that -- I'm going to interpret that as a yes.

         16    If I am wrong, then for the record, you should

         17  correct me.  I'm taking your response as a yes, and

         18  I'm not being difficult, I just want clarification

         19  as to where we are.  Because, it's not about

         20  obesity, it's not about whether they don't have a

         21  playground.  That is not what, I don't believe, this

         22  bill is about.  That's a whole other issue.  It

         23  isn't about whether the kids have space to run up

         24  and down.  It's about the reduction of mortality and

         25  how do we help to save lives better than what we're
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          2  doing.  That's the intent of this bill --

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

          4  The reduction-

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- A yes or a

          6  no will be great.  I understand semantics, and

          7  believe me, I understand the whole thing.  So, if

          8  you're going to not give a specific no, I'm going to

          9  take it as a yes.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         11  would say, as currently formulated, the bill is not

         12  the most effective use of resources to prevent

         13  cardiac death, that we would have more effective use

         14  of resources to do so --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Well, I can

         16   --

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         18  Which includes, yes the way to reduce mortality is

         19  getting kids moving and things like that.  However,

         20  the intent of the bill is appropriate and I think

         21  that we can  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Okay, let's

         23  move on from there --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         25  Find a wise solution to the details --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Thank you.

          3  I do know and I'm very much aware that we have other

          4  advanced technology and certainly in a hospital

          5  today, there is much that is displaced in operation

          6  to really save lives.  I don't think there's a

          7  person in this room, from myself or my colleagues,

          8  or anybody sitting here that hasn't been on a City

          9  street and has watched an ambulance maneuver and

         10  cannot reach their destination, and I'm not looking

         11  at the response times or anything else.

         12                 I am -- I run hospitals, and I know

         13  that that minute, that second, or those two minutes

         14  make the difference whether a heart beats or it

         15  doesn't beat.  I have seen these ambulances get

         16  stuck behind unbelievable traffic in the City of New

         17  York, and I have said there for the grace of God,

         18  I'm not in it, because whether they make it or not

         19  is very questionable. Often, they don't.

         20                 So, the issue here is not the dollars

         21  and cents, it's not the contractual things, it's a

         22  question of whether they actually, in the places

         23  that they're being looked at to install them, do

         24  they have a big plus.  If the plus far outweighs any

         25  negative that may be wrapped in that, whether it be
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          2  the money or anything else, that is what I think we

          3  have to look at.  My question, with these

          4  contractuals, and it maybe for DCAS, is training

          5  included in those contractual arrangements?

          6                 MR. JOHNSTON:  Yes, training is

          7  included for six personnel.  Unfortunately, I do not

          8  have the information on how long the training is,

          9  but --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Well, I

         11  think it was stated earlier, she thought about four

         12  hours, if I heard you correctly.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         14  believe so, but I would encourage you to verify that

         15   --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- That's all

         17  right --

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  --

         19  With Dr. Richardson --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- Right, no

         21  that's not a very specific.  I'm not, you know,

         22  getting down to that specifics.  But, it's somewhere

         23  along that.  Is there on- going training with these

         24  contractual arrangements, or is it a one- time deal.

         25  I mean, in other words  --
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          2                 MR. JOHNSTON: I'd be more than happy

          3   --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- The

          5  following year --

          6                 MR. JOHNSTON:  -- To look into that

          7  for you.  I am not sure at this point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Could you do

          9  that?

         10                 MR. JOHNSTON:  Yea.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Because I

         12  think that's very key as to exactly what happens

         13  with the companies or however they do it that will

         14  install these once we get it through the Council,

         15  and I'm very optimistic that we will.  Because, the

         16  intent of this is really a good one, and I have

         17  supported my colleague, Councilman Oddo, on this,

         18  and the Chair, because it's really good.  I think

         19  there are things that we have to remove ourselves

         20  from, and those are the dollars and cents, and no

         21  one should misinterpret in this room, or any other

         22  room, that to say that is very frivolous and that we

         23  don't pay attention to the dollars and cents,

         24  because all of us, and as I've pointed out, we're

         25  not advisory boards, we are a legislative body, and
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          2  we take very seriously every cut we have to make,

          3  every reinstatement and every revenue package that

          4  we have to raise to do that.  So, I say that with a

          5  great deal of sobriety, because we all have that

          6  responsibility.

          7                 I believe the City of New York and a

          8  one- time deal can find monies to buy this

          9  equipment.  I do not believe otherwise, and I

         10  believe that if a contact, and the RFP's and however

         11  they do it, are done broadly, widely and have in

         12  them the training, on- going training, because

         13  there's such a thing as sensitivity training as well

         14  as having to learn the equipment, and that should be

         15  part.  Because if we have that equipment and these

         16  companies, they should be able to train the

         17  personnel, which is inclusive in the price, and they

         18  should be very much aware of sensitivity training

         19  that goes with that.

         20                 In terms of whether there are better

         21  ways to do that, I argue with that, because I think

         22  when somebody's in a building, on the 18th floor,

         23  and that ambulance is trying to manipulate through

         24  that traffic, that equipment makes a big difference,

         25  a big difference.  I would urge you to work with the
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          2  Committee, so that some of those things that have to

          3  be ironed out, and I think you will find they're

          4  most amenable to doing that.  The objective is to

          5  come out with a bill that is realistic, that is

          6  doable, and that, ultimately, is the right thing to

          7  do because it can save lives, and that's what the

          8  key is all about, it's not the dollars and cents.

          9  Thank you Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Well, thank you all for your testimony, and

         12  as we said, we will be back in touch.  Next, I'm

         13  going to call up the next panel, Diane Sixsmith, Dr.

         14  Diane Sixsmith, Tony Rose, Dr. Richardson, is Dr.

         15  Richardson here?  Oh, I hope Dr. -- If anybody knows

         16  who Dr. Richardson when he or she comes in, if they

         17  could let the staff know because we would want to

         18  put them on, and Sarah Gillen.  Oh, whoever would

         19  like to start, I'm sorry, go ahead.  If the light is

         20  off, the mic is on, and just identify yourself for

         21  the record to start, and any affiliation you have.

         22  You don't have any, that's okay too.

         23                 Dr. SIXSMITH:  Good afternoon

         24  Councilwoman and Chairman Quinn and Councilman Oddo

         25  and Councilwoman Sears.  I am Diane Sixsmith.  I am
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          2  the Chairman of the Department of Emergency

          3  Medicine, New York Hospital and Medical Center of

          4  Queens.  I am a Member of the Heritage Board of the,

          5  Heritage Affiliate, the Board of Directors of the

          6  American Heart Association.  I'd like to thank you

          7  for this opportunity to speak in support of Intro.

          8  211 and 206.

          9                 The American Heart Association is a

         10  non- profit nation- wide voluntary health

         11  organization that's funded entirely by private

         12  contributions.  Our mission is to reduce death and

         13  disability from cardiovascular disease and stroke.

         14  Some of my prepared remarks really deal a great deal

         15  with educating you all about sudden cardiac death

         16  and defibrillators and it's quite clear to me that

         17  you know the issues.  So, I'm going, for purposes of

         18  brevity, to bypass all over that and just to

         19  reiterate some of the statistics which Chairwoman

         20  Quinn and Councilman Oddo already mentioned.

         21                 In this Country, 250,000 people die

         22  of sudden cardiac death every year.  In New York

         23  City, it's probably about 7,000 people a year.  When

         24  the American Heart Association funded a study to

         25  determine the likelihood of survivability of cardiac
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          2  arrest in New York City ten years ago, the survival

          3  rate was 1.4 percent, which means that less than two

          4  people out of a hundred survive.

          5                 We are currently waiting the results

          6  of a study that we have funded ten years later to

          7  see if anything has improved in the City of New

          8  York, with improvement in emergency response time,

          9  improvement in the emergency medical service, the

         10  addition of fire department personnel as first

         11  responders, and public access to defibrillators.  We

         12  don't have the answer to that yet, but we do have

         13  these answers from other studies that have been

         14  done.  We know that the time for survival in sudden

         15  cardiac death with an intact brain, a patient that

         16  can survive and walk out of the hospital and resume

         17  life as normal is about four to six minutes until

         18  they're irreparably damaged.

         19                 We know that every minute that goes

         20  by, that likelihood of survival in tact decreases by

         21  seven to ten percent. We also know that the average

         22  ambulance response time in the City is somewhere

         23  between 12 and 13 minutes.  For sector one, are the

         24  most urgent cardiac arrest emergencies, the response

         25  time is six minutes.  That pretty much tells you
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          2  that in the best of circumstances, in this finest

          3  emergency medical service in the world, in my

          4  opinion, the largest and the most sophisticated, we

          5  are unlikely, in the majority of cases, no matter

          6  how well we arrange our emergency medical service

          7  system, and no matter how well we fund it, and no

          8  matter how well we train it, and no matter how many

          9  resources we direct to it, that we have to look at

         10  alternative approaches to saving lives of sudden

         11  cardiac death.

         12                 We know we can do that from other

         13  areas in the country.  As you so well have brought

         14  up.  An interesting study that has always impressed

         15  me is the experience at Chicago O'Hare Airport,

         16  where no one in Chicago O'Hare, the largest airport

         17  in the country, is ever further away than three

         18  minutes from an automatic defibrillator.  In Chicago

         19  O'Hare, their survival from sudden cardiac arrest is

         20  somewhere around 60 percent now.  The more

         21  interesting statistic is, that 40 percent of the

         22  time, those defibrillators are applied by non-

         23  public safety personnel.  Those defibrillators hang

         24  on the wall and somebody who knows how to use them,

         25  whether they're a passing doctor, nurse or emergency
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          2  care provider, 40 percent of the time, non- O'Hare

          3  employees apply them, which I think is a sort of

          4  wonderful inspirational message that if you put them

          5  out there, they're probably going to be used.

          6                 Las Vegas is another wonderful

          7  example of a place that you hardly think would be

          8  concerned with saving lives and public safety, where

          9  the survival rate is somewhere around 70 percent, in

         10  casinos where these devices are being applied by

         11  security guards.

         12                 So, I want to thank you very much for

         13  your interest in this particular issue, because I

         14  have spent my professional life dealing with it, and

         15  I am going to close my remarks with one anecdote,

         16  that seems particularly appropriate to today's

         17  hearing.

         18                 The last time I worked in the

         19  emergency room of my institution, New York Hospital

         20  of Queens, was last Thursday. A 25 year-old teacher

         21  in a Yeshiva, in the middle of teaching her class,

         22  suddenly collapsed in front of her students, with no

         23  premonition whatsoever.

         24                 Her students did all the right

         25  things. One of them started CPR.  They called
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          2  Hotsola (phonetic), an incredibly dedicated and fast

          3  responding and very large volunteer ambulance

          4  service, who arrived as quickly as they could.  They

          5  did all the right things.  They indeed were able to

          6  resuscitate her, but not resuscitate her well

          7  enough.  In other words, when she arrived on our

          8  doorstep, she was alive, but will probably be

          9  permanently brain damaged for the rest of her life.

         10                 So, indeed, in this vertical City of

         11  ours, we are faced with more tragedies than this

         12  than we would like to admit. That with the best

         13  emergency response system in the world, the

         14  congestion, the traffic, as you Councilwoman Sears

         15  brought up, the vertical nature of the way we live,

         16  getting up an elevator alone can take one or two

         17  minutes off response time.  We have to look at

         18  alternative ways of saving lives.

         19                 I have been an emergency physician

         20  for 31 years. I have probably told family members

         21  more than a thousand times of the death of their

         22  loved ones.  A death incredibly mysterious because

         23  minutes earlier their loved one was sitting and

         24  talking to them at Sunday dinner, was exercising on

         25  a park in the bike (sic), was walking across Grand
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          2  Central Station for a train, and suddenly, in the

          3  midst of that very vigorous life, they were suddenly

          4  dead, and my only comment to them was, I'm sorry we

          5  couldn't do enough to save them.  So, I thank you

          6  very much, and I urge you to continue your efforts

          7  to fund this very important legislation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  We're

          9  just going to have all three of you testify and then

         10  we'll take questions after that, if that's okay.

         11                 MR. ROSE:  Thanks for allowing me to

         12  address the group today.  I'm Tony Rose.  I'm a

         13  Registered Nurse.  I'm a CPR instructor.  I'm an AED

         14  advocate.  I'm sure you've heard the message,

         15  already through the day, but there's no question, we

         16  need AEDs.  It's very frustrating to see people from

         17  the City come up here and work very hard to not do

         18  something.

         19                 Just a couple points of information.

         20  The training is three hours.  Heart Association's

         21  reviewed the program, tightened it up, and we can do

         22  adult skills, choking, use of the pocket mask, use

         23  of the AED, in less than three hours.  In terms of

         24  price, I can sell an individual machine.  As a CPR

         25  instructor, the next step has become an advocate for
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          2  AEDs because that's what works.  Cardiac Science has

          3  a machine that retails for under $2,000.00.

          4  Phillips has a machine, this retails for under

          5  $2,000.00.  This is the machine, probably, that

          6  Phillips would want to bring in.  They're just

          7  magical devices.

          8                 What's happened is that after 30

          9  years of training people to pump and blow and pump

         10  and blow, scientists in this field of resuscitation

         11  discovered an amazing thing about the abc's of CPR.

         12  It doesn't work.  For 30 years, instructors are

         13  puzzled over things like proper hand position and

         14  the ratio of compressions to breath, and we finally

         15  got around to assessing does the damn thing work.

         16  And, it turns out it doesn't.  It doesn't do what we

         17  thought it did.  We thought you would pump and blow,

         18  pump and blow for a couple minutes, the guy would

         19  get up, shake your hand, we'd be on rescue 911 and

         20  have a tv show and a barbecue in the backyard.

         21                 Well, that pretty much never

         22  happened.  The actual numbers are sobering.  Dr.

         23  Sixsmith mentioned that a million and a half people

         24  get a heart attack people (sic) a day, a quarter to

         25  a third of them die of sudden cardiac arrest.  We
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          2  got very good at managing the blockages of the

          3  coronary arteries, and we could put the people back

          4  on the street in less than a week.  The problem is

          5  about a third of heart attack victims don't make it

          6  to the hospital.  They die at home, they die in the

          7  supermarket, they die in the street.  People die in

          8  offices, they die at weddings, at concerts, in the

          9  gym, at PTA meetings, basketball tournaments.  The

         10  die at little league games.  What kills heart attack

         11  victims is not the dead chunk of muscle, but that

         12  bad rhythm, the dysrhythmia.  They go into

         13  fibrillation.  It's the shaking, quivering, seizure-

         14  like activity of the heart that can happen when the

         15  heart's not supplied with nutrients and oxygens.

         16                 People who visualize the heart and

         17  fibrillation describe it like a bag of worms, and

         18  functional pumping has ceased.  There's only one

         19  cure for fibrillation, defibrillation, and time is

         20  muscle, time is muscle.  The potential for

         21  successful conversion diminishes rapidly over time.

         22  My 11 year- old, fifth grader, did this as a science

         23  fair project.  John and four fifth graders took

         24  Heart Saver AED and four grown- ups took Heart Saver

         25  AED and they were all successful, they were all
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          2  certified, they all met Heart Association

          3  guidelines.  If you're in my ER --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Did he win?

          5                 MR. ROSE:  The potato clock won.  The

          6  potato clock always wins  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- It always

          8  does.  Tell him you cannot beat the potato clock --

          9                 MR. ROSE:  -- Here we are saving

         10  lives and the potato clock wins --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- It always wins

         12   --

         13                 MR. ROSE:  -- Again --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- And I say that

         15  as an Irish person.

         16                 MR. ROSE:  I understand, and as a

         17  mother?  So, if you go out in the ER, I'll grab the

         18  paddles to shock you in the first minute of arrest.

         19  We have an 80/90 percent chance of successful

         20  resuscitation.  If you're in arrest for five

         21  minutes, it's a 50/50 shot.  By ten to 12 minutes in

         22  arrest, pretty much nobody survives.  Nobody can

         23  beat the hospitals in New York or the EMS system,

         24  but there's no question, by the time a 9- 1- 1

         25  dispatched assistance arrives, the patient's going
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          2  to die and probably unnecessarily.

          3                 Because the issue on the table today

          4  is that death overbooks.  Many of the people lying

          5  dead on a bus stop are 95 percent healthy.  If we

          6  could get their hearts restarted and get them to the

          7  hospital, these are almost routine repairs.  Bypass

          8  patients are discharged in three to five days, open

          9  heart, less than a week.  And, you don't have to

         10  have a heart attack to be in fibrillation.  Last

         11  year, we lost three kids in three days in our City

         12  school system.

         13                 I was here seven years ago, when we

         14  tried to do this before.  Dr. Weisenfeld (phonetic)

         15  told us that we have the capacity to save lives.  We

         16  have the technology.  We have the knowledge.  What

         17  we don't have is the political will to make it

         18  happen.  Do people have to die before we have the

         19  vision to make a change? He asked.  Do people have

         20  to die before we can see what's in front of our

         21  eyes?  Well, we have the answers to those questions,

         22  the question today is, how many?

         23                 The job of government, and there was

         24  some discussion of what the government rightly

         25  should do, the job of the government is to regulate
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          2  life in the City.  To keep us from putting sewage in

          3  the water where we swim and fish.  To oversee the

          4  way people cook and feed us.  To ensure that we have

          5  the tools to live and work in safety and security.

          6                 Research has shown that early

          7  defibrillation can restore life anywhere from a half

          8  to three quarters of the adults and children in

          9  fibrillation, the most common cause of human death.

         10  About 40 percent of all deaths are cardiac.  Sadly,

         11  it took the deaths of children to alert us to this

         12  ever present danger.  We don't look to save

         13  everybody who dies.  This wouldn't be a good idea if

         14  we could.  Imagine a parking situation at Kings

         15  Plaza if no one ever died.  Imagine the price of a

         16  condo on the East Side if no one ever died.

         17                 Here are the numbers for New York

         18  City, over 3,000 New Yorkers die each year from

         19  sudden cardiac arrest.  That's about ten New Yorkers

         20  every day, someone's brother, someone's mother, a

         21  wife, a child.  We should be able to save at least

         22  10 percent of these dead New Yorkers if we could get

         23  enough AEDs out there to deliver a shock in the

         24  first few vital moments.

         25                 That means that now, one New Yorker,
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          2  every day, is dying, who probably doesn't have to.

          3  Probably more.  Who's scheduled to go out tomorrow?

          4  His brain is healthy, his heart is alive, he's just

          5  in a bad rhythm.  This is one of those look left,

          6  look right moments.

          7                 I carry an AED in my car.  I hope

          8  there's an AED near when you need one.  One thing

          9  that I can assure you is that if the Oddo bill

         10  becomes the Oddo law, there will be more favorable

         11  voters for you.  It won't be long before a group of

         12  resuscitated victims becomes a support group, and

         13  then an advocacy group.  Imagine being at a campaign

         14  stop and someone comes to the front of the room to

         15  shake your hand because you supported the New York

         16  City AED bill.  I celebrate two birthdays these

         17  days, they'll tell you, one in April because that's

         18  when I was born, and another in October, because

         19  that's when I was born again, thanks to the efforts

         20  of you and your friends in the Council.  Keep up the

         21  good work.

         22                 Let's send these people back to their

         23  homes, back to their families, back to their jobs.

         24  Because, remember, the goal of the AED is to return

         25  the victim to tax payer status.  The thing the City
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          2  needs is more tax payers to share our burden.  Let

          3  him send his own kids to college.  Why should we

          4  have to pay for them?  And, at $2,500.00, an AED is

          5  cheaper than a funeral.  At $2,500.00, I could

          6  supply an individual place with an AED, two sets of

          7  pads, a spare battery, a case, a wall bracket,

          8  medical direction, and training for four people.  I

          9  know people who paid for than for a tv.

         10                 The intent of the law, as I read it,

         11  is to provide someone who knows how to use an AED

         12  the opportunity to have it on hand if the need

         13  arises to use it.  That means knowing CPR, the abc's

         14  of CPR have become the abcd's.  CPR is incomplete

         15  without electricity, and an AED is useless without

         16  the confidence and the skills provided in a CPR

         17  class.  New York City law can't be less

         18  comprehensive than the existing State law.

         19                 State regulations say there's three

         20  ways to buy an AED, an invasive medical device.

         21  One, if you're a doctor, buy one.  Two, if you need

         22  one for your private, personal use, you need a

         23  prescription.  The most useful way, the third way,

         24  is community- based AED programs.

         25                 In order to buy an AED for your
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          2  business, your block association, your tenants

          3  group, State law says that you need four components,

          4  the machine; enough trained providers, so that in

          5  the event the machine's needed, someone will know

          6  how to use it; a written site- specific plan, and

          7  there are fill in the blank plans, they're very easy

          8  to make, they're very easy to do. Divers say that

          9  failing the plan, is planning to fail.  Having these

         10  machines without keeping pads fresh and batteries up

         11  to date is worse than not having them at all.  And,

         12  the last piece is medical direction, a doctor, or a

         13  clinic or a hospital who puts their license on the

         14  line to say, yea, here's a group that has a plan,

         15  they're organized, and they'll be able to check the

         16  machine once a month to make sure it's functioning.

         17  A good vendor can supply all this.  I can get you in

         18  the business of saving lives for $2,500.00.  Doing

         19  anything less is inviting tragedy.

         20                 I applaud the inclusion of the no

         21  duty to act clause.  It's very sad that people do

         22  freeze.  However, less than one percent of the

         23  American public is trained in CPR and the use of

         24  AEDs.  It's said that most battles have been won or

         25  lost before they were fought.  Failure to provide
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          2  for CPR training in the use of these devices could

          3  doom the initiative before it begins.  At some

          4  point, we'd like to demonstrate an on- site

          5  defibrillator, and you can see what the state- of-

          6  the- art, and the smaller, lighter, cheaper machines

          7  look like.  Again, thank you very much for your

          8  time, I appreciate it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         10  much, and the last witness on this panel please.

         11                 MS. GILLEN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         12  is Sarah Gillen, and I'm an American Heart

         13  Association Instructor/Trainer and CEO of Emergency

         14  Skills, Incorporated.  Emergency Skills, based in

         15  New York City, is an American Heart Association

         16  training center, and a distributor for the Heart

         17  Start Automated External Defibrillators, which are

         18  placed throughout many of the New York City

         19  government agencies.  My company has been training

         20  corporate employees in life saving skills since

         21  1977.  In 1997, we began selling defibrillators, and

         22  since then, my company has implemented turnkey AED

         23  programs in nearly 200 corporations.

         24                 Emergency Skills has been very active

         25  with public access defibrillation programs in New
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          2  York, including the New York City PAD program, where

          3  we've offered training for City Hall, Department for

          4  the Aging and many other agencies.  For public

          5  access defibrillation programs in general, Emergency

          6  Skills is the largest AHA training center here in

          7  New York.

          8                 I am here to support Intro. Number

          9  211 and 206, and I would like to thank Councilman

         10  Oddo for introducing these proposals, and all the

         11  Council Members who have been a part of these, this

         12  legislation, with the goal of saving more lives in

         13  the great City of New York.

         14                 As mentioned earlier, there had been

         15  some wonderful research studies that have showed a

         16  marked increase when victims were helped by

         17  community volunteers trained to perform not only

         18  CPR, but also to use an automated external

         19  defibrillator.  Locally, amongst my AED clients, we

         20  have a 42 percent survival rate.  Now, in comparison

         21  to the current cardiac risk survival rate in New

         22  York City, which, as mentioned is 1.4 percent, this

         23  is an outstanding number.

         24                 Beyond the statistics, the true life

         25  stories are inspiring.  For example, the

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Metropolitan Museum of Art, an organization that

          3  would be affected by proposal 211, has owned AEDs

          4  for many years.  A couple of years ago, a volunteer

          5  at the museum collapsed, a bystander started CPR,

          6  the Museum nurse arrived within a few minutes with

          7  her AED, and three shocks later, the volunteer was

          8  breathing.  She survived out of the hospital and

          9  beyond.  The responder was a nurse who completed her

         10  AED certification course one week prior to the

         11  rescue.

         12                 I have told many of my training

         13  contacts and AED deployment sites about this bill

         14  and all have been very responsive.  In general, the

         15  perceived hurdles have been reduced over the last

         16  few years.  In 1998, liability was minimized by the

         17  passage of Section 3000B of the Public Health Law.

         18  This law does protect the companies that purchase

         19  AEDs, trained responders and the medical director

         20  who assumes quality assurance control.  The costs of

         21  AED equipment have been reduced significantly over

         22  the last few years, most do cost less than $2,000.00

         23  now.

         24                 Also, since January 2001, New York

         25  State tax law allows for a $500.00 tax credit for
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          2  each AED purchased. Technology has eliminated the

          3  hurdles, increasing the usability of the device has

          4  been a priority for AED manufacturers.  For example,

          5  the defibrillator that Tony is going to show has

          6  defibrillation pads that are sensitive to the user's

          7  actions, so the voice prompts of the AED will

          8  actually change and become more specific based upon

          9  what the responder is doing.

         10                 Also, another fantastic advancement

         11  has been pediatric defibrillation, with specially

         12  designed defibrillation pads, some automated

         13  defibrillators may be used on children under the age

         14  of eight.  Training has been streamlined.  The

         15  American Heart Association just released new

         16  materials for its Heartsaver AED program.  The

         17  course can be completed in half a day.  The teaching

         18  tools use proven methodologies.  The student manual

         19  is an excellent resource for the trained responders.

         20    Regular re certification courses, however, must be

         21  maintained in order to maintain you skills.

         22                 For these reasons, I believe Intro.

         23  Number 211 and 206 should be passed.  However, I

         24  believe that the 120 day, 120 days may not be

         25  sufficient time for a business new to AEDs to do the
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          2  research to implement a proper program.  I fear that

          3  a company under the crunch to be in compliance will

          4  merely buy the cheapest device off the web and not

          5  receive the proper customer service.

          6                 There may be, there are many

          7  important criteria to implementing a successful AED

          8  program beyond the purchase of the device.  Criteria

          9  such as performing a site survey -- excuse me- to

         10  determine proper AED replacement, offering training

         11  courses led by a qualified instructor, providing

         12  hands- on practice with a CPR mannequin and an AED

         13  trainer unit, fulfilling the New York State public

         14  health law requirements, including medical

         15  oversight, notification forms and post- incident

         16  reports, reviewing emergency procedures,

         17  recommending AED signage, and educating the

         18  clientele, all help create a truly effective public

         19  access defibrillation program.  Only with all of

         20  these aspects can we achieve our goal of increasing

         21  the survival rate of cardiac arrest victims in New

         22  York City.

         23                 I am a great proponent of both bills,

         24  and I truly hope they will pass.  I do recommend the

         25  following, please give the businesses subject to
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          2  this law 180 days for implementation and with this

          3  law, publish guidelines naming organizations that

          4  can aid them in implementing a turkey AED program.

          5  Organizations such as the American Heart Association

          6  and their training centers, or AED distributors with

          7  a proven track record of implementing a total AED

          8  program, can help ensure that not only AEDs will be

          9  placed, but also placed properly.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  Just

         11  a couple of questions.  When you were just

         12  testifying, I think you said, quoted $2,000.00 as a

         13  cost amount, is that right?

         14                 MS. GILLEN:  Yes, less, most are less

         15  than $2,000.00.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And then, but,

         17  you said, I think $2,500.00 in your testimony.  I

         18  just wanted to know, was, for both of your amounts

         19   --

         20                 MR. ROSE:  -- The discrepancy, we're

         21  talking the same thing, except that the machine is

         22  $2,000.00.  If you get a case, a spare battery, you

         23  get training, you get an apparatus to hang it on the

         24  wall, that would be in addition to plan, to the

         25  machine.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That was my

          3  question, whether the amounts you were citing

          4  included the training and stuff like that.

          5                 MS. GILLEN:  There's also different

          6  models available.  For example, the one that New

          7  York City has is a different model made by Phillips,

          8  than the one --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         10                 MS. GILLEN:  -- Right there.  But,

         11  that unit itself does list at $1,995.00.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Are you aware,

         13  Council Member Oddo talked earlier about other

         14  cities being able to get it, get them for

         15  significantly less money, are you aware of that,

         16  that there are other places or?

         17                 MR. ROSE:  Of course --

         18                 MS. GILLEN:  -- I don't have personal

         19  experience with those, however, obviously a large

         20  volume --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         22                 MS. GILLEN:  -- You do get better

         23  prices.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.

         25                 MR. ROSE:  If I could sell you one
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          2  for 1995 --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right, then

          4  you could sell me a hundred for less, unless I'm a

          5  bad shopper --

          6                 MR. ROSE:  -- This is New York --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right.  We

          8  have talked a lot today about training, and I don't

          9  want to say that there shouldn't be training and

         10  that training isn't important, particularly, as you

         11  said, sir, because that training also includes CPR

         12  training and the best way to use an AED is to have

         13  knowledge and understanding of both.  But, isn't it

         14  fair to say that an AED could be used by someone

         15  without training, because, in fact, an AED, if I was

         16  to put the pads on somebody and try to shock them,

         17  if that person didn't need it, or if my shocking of

         18  them would hurt them, or hurt them more than it

         19  would help them, the machine will not let me do it?

         20                 MS. GILLEN:  I think there are two

         21  ways of answering that question.  Obviously, the

         22  automated defibrillators have been designed to be as

         23  simple as possible.  CPR and AED training, it gives

         24  you the only guarantee that you will do the right

         25  thing during an emergency --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Absolutely --

          3                 MS. GILLEN:  -- Even knowing how to

          4  turn it on, for example.  Then, the other part of it

          5  is that New York State does have a public health law

          6  that protects you from legal liability.  However, it

          7  does require you to be trained.  So, it, that's

          8  where we are at this point.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, I understand

         10  that.  But, I guess, I just, isn't it true though,

         11  that -- the last hearing we had on this, I had some

         12  concerns afterwards that we spoke about training so

         13  much, I was a little fearful we almost did a

         14  disservice to AEDs, because we made them sound like

         15  if you opened them up and used it, you could, you

         16  know, kill somebody.

         17                 I'm not saying we shouldn't have

         18  training or that that isn't the law.  But, as I

         19  understand them, if you went and tried to shock me

         20  right now, it wouldn't let you do that because my

         21  heart doesn't need it and you would hurt my heart by

         22  doing it. It would stop and it wouldn't allow it.

         23  So, I just want to, for the record, get some

         24  information about whether my understanding of that

         25  is true.  Whether, in fact, that they are better
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          2  used when trained, but that you're, they do prevent

          3  one from using it if using it would harm the

          4  patient, for lack of a better word.

          5                 MR. ROSE:  The machines are designed

          6  to not shock people.  In fact, that's, in their

          7  initial inception, was found to be more important

          8  than being able to shock someone, because they're

          9  already dead --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         11                 MR. ROSE:  -- And you can't hurt them

         12   --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

         14                 MR. ROSE:  -- But someone who's not

         15  dead, won't get a shock, and I think, in something

         16  like 20 years of AED usages, I don't know any

         17  reports of anyone whose been shocked who shouldn't

         18  been.

         19                 DR. SIXSMITH:  Yea, I have to

         20  reiterate that.  As far as we know, there's no

         21  reported use of the device harming anyone when it's

         22  been used.  One of the reasons for the training, I

         23  think though, is not even so much to enable the

         24  person to use it correctly, because they are almost

         25  idiot- proof, but to encourage them to use it to
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          2  begin with.  In some --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right, right

          4   --

          5                 DR. SIXSMITH:  -- Of the earlier

          6  studies of the AEDs, they were there and people were

          7  afraid to use them.  So, the purpose of the training

          8  isn't so much to make them know how to use the

          9  machine, but to make them comfortable using it, so

         10  that they well apply it when it's necessary.  I, the

         11  Heart Association's probably going to hate me when I

         12  say this, but I don't think, I think you could do

         13  fairly adequate training in probably half the time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you, thank

         15  you all very much.  Council Member Oddo, and I want

         16  to say we've been joined by Doctor Council Member

         17  Kendall Stewart, of Brooklyn, who was, I think, here

         18  earlier, has been jumping back and forth with the

         19  Economic Development hearing, which you all can

         20  hear.  Council Member Oddo and then Council Member

         21  Stewart, I believe, has a question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Madam Chair, I

         23  think you're absolutely right, in that maybe we need

         24  to establish, on the record, how advanced and how

         25  wonderful these machines are and how easy they are
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          2  to use, the fact that they do walk you through the

          3  process.  I think that, perhaps, at the last

          4  hearing, not only was the efficacy of these machines

          5  sort of --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Right --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Attacked,

          8  but I think there was an overall impression that

          9  what's going to happen if we have public access

         10  defibrillation, we're going to have a bunch of

         11  marauding teenagers running around zapping people in

         12  the ass with an AED.  I think that's a disservice to

         13  it.  So, I think it's important that we establish on

         14  the record, and continue to establish how they walk

         15  you through it.

         16                 I want to thank you folks for your

         17  testimony.  I just want to also put on the record

         18  that Tony, in fact, trained my office.  Trained

         19  Kevin when he worked for me, Rob and also Raphael,

         20  one of the Sergeant at Arms, when the City Hall, a

         21  couple years ago, didn't have a defibrillator, and

         22  now it does.

         23                 The one thing I will say about the

         24  training is, I think, the biggest benefit, because

         25  as you say, Madam Chair, I mean you can walk in cold
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          2  and use the machines.  But, the one benefit, I

          3  think, the one real benefit is when Tony walked us

          4  through it again and again and then said, okay,

          5  let's kind of put you on the clock and Kevin had to

          6  go dial 9- 1- 1 and we all took roles.  Even though

          7  it was a mannequin in front of us, that adrenaline

          8  starts pumping and you know, you suddenly go blank

          9  and you forget your abcd.

         10                 When you go through that training and

         11  you walk out of it, I think that it's human nature

         12  that if now, either, or any of the four of us were

         13  to face that situation, we would have that instant

         14  recall and instead of freezing with the live body,

         15  our freezing happened with the mannequin, and I

         16  think that's really the value of the training.  I

         17  just want to thank you for the testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member

         19  Stewart.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         21  Madam Chair. In our society, where it's very

         22  litigious in terms of every single thing we sue.

         23  When one is a trained medical professional, and he's

         24  in the public and there's an emergency, he thinks

         25  twice now whether he should respond or not because
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          2  that person may not be directly under his care.  In

          3  an emergency, he has to think whether he will be

          4  sued or not.  How do you respond to a situation like

          5  this, you talking about with these machines?

          6  Because, if someone were to take sick right now,

          7  it's easier for someone who's not a professional to

          8  respond because he's not that concerned that he will

          9  be sued.  But, if that person is a professional, if

         10  he responds, he's opening up himself for some sort

         11  of litigation.  So, how do we tie that in with the

         12  use of these machines?

         13                 MR. ROSE:  The legal aspect is that

         14  you are held to the level of your training --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- But that

         16   --

         17                 MR. ROSE:  -- Which means, but it

         18  also, the other piece is that, if you're in a health

         19  care facility, you have insurance.  You have the

         20  malpractice insurance, and in malpractice there's, I

         21  like to call it the four bricks of the malpractice

         22  law, the patient has a need, you have a duty to

         23  respond, there's harm that's done, and then cause

         24  and effect between the harm and what you did or

         25  didn't do.  Now, the piece that's lacking if I
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          2  respond to somebody on the sidewalk is the duty.

          3  Because I have no duty to respond, it's not

          4  malpractice. I'm doing this in good faith, of good

          5  will.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Well, you

          7  see, the point here is not whether it's malpractice

          8  or not, it's whether you have to defend the case.

          9  Any case, you know, the fact is, what I'm saying is

         10  that the mere fact that that professional respond,

         11  he's opening himself up for litigation.  That's what

         12  happens in our society today --

         13                 MR. ROSE:  -- But in that setting, in

         14  the setting --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- But they

         16  can also --

         17                 MR. ROSE:  -- Outside the hospital,

         18  he falls under the Good Samaritan Act --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- But in

         20  the hospital, he knows he's covered, so he would do

         21  it.  But, I'm talking about in areas where in the

         22  public domain, where you may have something like

         23  this and you want to be able to use it.  Someone who

         24  is a professional, being trained as a doctor,

         25  whatever --

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 MR. ROSE:  -- Walk away --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- He does

          4  not want to respond because he knows he's opening up

          5  himself to litigation. So, how do we tie this in?

          6  I'm looking to see how, you know, you get even the

          7  people who are professionals, who are trained, to at

          8  least think, start thinking different.  Right now,

          9  our society doesn't make us think any way to help.

         10  It makes us think to keep far away.  If you in the

         11  street and there's an accident, even if you have the

         12  machine, if there's a car accident or anything like

         13  that, if it's a professional, he tends to move away

         14  or leave the scene, not be involved.  An ordinary

         15  person will quicker respond, will try to do to help,

         16  because he knows that he's not opening up himself to

         17  any litigation as if it was a professional.

         18                 MR. ROSE:  Well, again, it goes back

         19  to training. In the CPR class, we explain, that

         20  there's two reasons people don't want to do CPR,

         21  cooties, and no offense to the lawyers, but lawyers.

         22    We talk about using a pocket mask, using

         23  protective breathing devices, and we also mention

         24  that in the community, you're covered by the Good

         25  Samaritan Act.  That's reiterated in the State law,
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          2  and it's also reiterated in Intro. 211, that you

          3  fall under the Good Samaritan Act, because you don't

          4  have a duty to respond, you're doing this as a good

          5  citizen, and the courts look favorably.  The State

          6  law mentions that the program -- that issues like

          7  that won't even get to court, that they'll be thrown

          8  out as inappropriate.  It's frivolous litigation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  It becomes

         10  frivolous after you have spent money trying to

         11  defend yourself.  That's what I'm looking at.

         12                 MR. ROSE:  Well, this is America and

         13  anybody can sue anybody at any time.  But, the

         14  courts look favorably on it and all the footprints

         15  here really are behind us.  This is unchartered

         16  territory, so we have to hope that the courts will

         17  look at people of good faith, operating in good

         18  faith.

         19                 DR. SIXSMITH:  And Councilman, I

         20  think there always will be doctors, those pathetic

         21  people who will not try to be good samaritans, but

         22  there will be those that will.  Some of us will, and

         23  this legislation provides them to have the tool that

         24  they need to provide, to provide emergency care.

         25                 MS. GILLEN:   Just public
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          2  information, if we're going to do an initiative like

          3  this, publicizing it to, you know, every citizen in

          4  New York City and say, listen, we've got these, go

          5  for it, do something.  And, you're going to be, I

          6  mean there is an aspect of the law that protects

          7  them from legal liability.  So, publicize that

          8  component and no one would have the courage to sue a

          9  doctor who saved their lives -- thank you -- who

         10  saved their lives.

         11                 So, it's public information, I mean,

         12  during the testimony we talked about O'Hare Airport.

         13    When O'Hare Airport first put out defibrillators,

         14  they did a huge public information program.  They

         15  had videos showing on all the monitors, telling

         16  everybody there's defibrillators there, take them

         17  off the walls, help people if you need them.  They

         18  had information with every airline ticket,

         19  explaining the defibrillators were there.

         20                 So, if New York City is going to do a

         21  program, let's do it right, public education is what

         22  you have to do, because they may not end up taking a

         23  CPR and AED course.  Let's get the information in

         24  every tax bill, look, we have a defibrillator here

         25  for you, go ahead and use one if you need to.
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          2                 MR. ROSE:  My medical director, Dr.

          3  Maize (phonetic), who's on the HAC board, carries a

          4  Power Heart with him all the time.  So, in case he

          5  should find somebody, and -- well not Shop Rite, I'm

          6  thinking Shop Rite, because they have the Phillips

          7  machine, they already have one.  But, if he finds a

          8  guy on the street, he will stop the car.  That's why

          9  he bought one on his own and he carries it with him.

         10  So, again, it comes back to education and

         11  enlightening the public of what's the risk.

         12                 In fact, the truth is, in terms of

         13  litigation, there are about 24 cases in the court

         14  system right now, and all of those cases are against

         15  places that didn't have AEDs.  Disney just bought

         16  500 of them because Busch Gardens lost a million

         17  dollar lawsuit, because someone arrested in the

         18  park, they didn't have the capacity to do basic life

         19  support.  Lufthansa lost a lawsuit because they

         20  didn't have AEDs.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Which is my

         22  point earlier to Dr. Silver about if establishing

         23  and helping to establish the accepted standard of

         24  care.  The fear is and the reason why you're

         25  enforcing is not that some DOH inspector's going to
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          2  come down in the middle of the night and see you

          3  don't have one, is your own liability.

          4                 MR. ROSE:  Beneficial use of lawyers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Right.  From

          6  time to time, we, I want to make sure that we

          7  understand --

          8                 MR. ROSE: You have trouble, call one

          9   --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- The personal

         11  pronoun, we, the inclusive, personal pronoun, we,

         12  can be helpful.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Can I just ask,

         15  while we're on this liability question, do you all

         16  know if, under the State law, having had the

         17  training changes what your liability is, if you

         18  haven't had the training?   If there's anything like

         19  that?

         20                 MS. GILLEN:  There is no duty to

         21  respond regardless of your training status.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  You know, Gelvina

         23  Stevenson, who is a lawyer, actually has a question

         24  as the Counsel to the Committee, so it's probably

         25  better if you just ask it, as opposed to telling it
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          2  to me, the non-lawyer.

          3                 MS. STEVENSON:  If I haven't trained

          4   --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Please identify

          6  yourself --

          7                 MS. STEVENSON:  Gelvina Stevenson,

          8  Health Committee.

          9                 If I have not been trained under the

         10  State law, and I use a defibrillator, am I covered

         11  by, am I covered under the liability clause of the

         12  State law?

         13                 MS. GILLEN:  The New York State Law

         14  does require that you be trained in a certain type

         15  of program.  It would be a civil liability issue.

         16  It would not be a legal -- for example, you wouldn't

         17  be arrested for performing the, using the

         18  defibrillator without being certified.

         19                 MR. ROSE:  And why would you be sued?

         20    Why would you be sued?  If you brought them back,

         21  that's a good thing.  If you didn't bring him back,

         22  he was dead already.  Really, law is, the legal

         23  stuff, I'm sorry, is really, is really overblown.

         24  Everyone is afraid and, of course, it's a natural

         25  response, but it's really overestimated.
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          2                 DR. SIXSMITH:  And frankly, of all

          3  the areas where we worry about liability, this is a

          4  device that sort of makes it almost a non- issue.  I

          5  mean the likelihood of harming somebody using this

          6  device is far less than just doing CPR, for example,

          7  where the risk of potential to physically harm

          8  somebody.  You know, as far as we know, these

          9  devices have never harmed anyone, even if they've

         10  been applied to the wrong patients inappropriately.

         11  So, the liability issue becomes a little bit less

         12  worrisome, because the devices are fairly good

         13  devices, and being, delivering the shock only when

         14  it's appropriate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

         16  to go back to your point.  In litigation, it will

         17  not be if you did save that person's life, it's

         18  usually when that person did not survive. So, you

         19  know, what you're saying, he was dead already.

         20  That's, I don't think saying it really negate the

         21  fact that you're going to get sued.  The fact is,

         22  you then have to defend yourself.  You have to prove

         23  that, listen, you tried and you did not contribute

         24  to his death.  That's the problem.  That's where I

         25  see the problem is.  That you're trying to help and
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          2  if you, as a matter of fact, if you're a

          3  professional then the onus is even more upon you to

          4  defend yourself, because there's where they expect

          5  you to at least to have done more or to, they felt

          6  you must have failed somewhere, why he did not

          7  survive, and that's why they sue.

          8                 MR. ROSE:  Even in the best of cases,

          9  most of the people who die will stay dead.  We're

         10  only looking at bringing a fraction of people back.

         11  So, I doubt that the court would find a finding that

         12  the guy stayed dead goes against a good samaritan

         13  who tried to do the best that he could.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Well, it's

         15  not the guy who suing, it's his relatives, it's his

         16  people, it's --

         17                 MR. ROSE:  -- The court has already

         18   --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- His

         20  family --

         21                 MR. ROSE:  -- Decided that, that they

         22  won't, they won't, it's written into the State law

         23  that there's, like you know, the pretrial hearings,

         24  that these will be excluded  --

         25                 MS. GILLEN:  -- Can I, to add --
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          2                 MR. ROSE:  -- It's in the State --

          3                 MS. GILLEN:  -- To add to that, all

          4  of the automated defibrillators have capabilities of

          5  recording the event.  So, post- incident, we get a

          6  print- out of the EKG of the patient.  You would

          7  know that they were in a lethal rhythm prior to the

          8  application of a shock.  So, we would have a paper

          9  trail proving this person was dead prior to anything

         10  I physically did.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you all

         12  very much for your testimony and your support and

         13  you may hear back from us as we work -- I just want

         14  to say on your point about more days for companies

         15  to comply.  That, you know, is a very good

         16  suggestion and we'll look at that, because,

         17  obviously, we want to pass a bill that is able to be

         18  implemented.  If we do it with too restrictive of

         19  start- up days, then that might cause people to say,

         20  well, just forget it altogether.  You know, a month

         21  or two more makes sense, if, in the end, it's going

         22  to get more out there.  So, we're more than happy to

         23  look at that.  Thank you.

         24                 Now, I'm going to call up six folks,

         25  so we're just going to need two more chairs.  Dr.
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          2  Richardson, I'm sorry if I'm going to say this next

          3  name wrong, Raabiya Hussain, is that right or close

          4  to right? Wendy Drillings, John and Rachel Moyer and

          5  Karen Acompora.  Those folks could, oh I did, oh I'm

          6  sorry, it's John and Karen Acompora and Rachel

          7  Moyer.  I'm sorry.  I've remarried people, which I

          8  don't even want to get into that issue in so many

          9  ways, because Jimmy and I are getting along, so why

         10  should we -- so if all those six folks would come on

         11  up, that would be great.

         12                 So, Raabiya's going to go first and

         13  then the Acompora's, we're going to watch their

         14  video, and then we'll go on to the other witnesses.

         15  So, and just when folks testify, if they'd identify

         16  themselves for the record first, that would be

         17  terrific.  Go right ahead, if the light is off, the

         18  mic is on. So, Ms. Hussain, if you go first, and

         19  then we'll play the Acompora's video.

         20                 MS. HUSSAIN:  Oh okay.  My name is

         21  Raabiya Hussain and thank you for allowing me to

         22  come here and speak in defense of these two

         23  propositions, Intros., whatever.  Basically, I'll

         24  tell you what happened to me.  I am 25 now.  If it

         25  hadn't been for an external defibrillator, I would
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          2  be dead for approximately two years already.  I was

          3  walking through Grand Central Station. I was 23.

          4  It'll be two years exactly in the middle of June, on

          5  Father's Day.  I collapsed.  I was -- there was a

          6  registered nurse who was walking by, she started

          7  administering CPR and then a paramedic came and I

          8  was defibrillated.  By the time they came, I had

          9  been dead for about ten minutes and they didn't

         10  think that I was going to survive at all, and if I

         11  did, they were convinced I would be a vegetable, be

         12  completely brain dead.

         13                 The first time I was ever checked

         14  into a hospital in my life was that day.  I was in a

         15  coma and I stayed in a coma for two more days.  I

         16  was in the hospital for three weeks.  I barely

         17  remember any of it.  There was -- I had amnesia.  Up

         18  until this point, I had no idea whatsoever that I

         19  had a heart problem. I thought I was a normal,

         20  healthy, 23 year- old, you know, with everything

         21  ahead of me.  It was a real sort of eye- opening

         22  experience to all of sudden, you know, one day I was

         23  on my way to my mother's house and everything was

         24  great, and then I was in a hospital and I had no

         25  idea why.
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          2                 In the hospital I had an internal

          3  defibrillator placed in my chest, which is  -- it

          4  also has pacemaker capabilities, but, which I don't

          5  really use, the pacemaker part, but the

          6  defibrillation aspects of this have happened two

          7  more times.  I have been in cardiac arrest a total

          8  of three times. The two subsequent times, after that

          9  time in Grand Central, both actually happened on the

         10  subway very close to Grand Central, and I was

         11  shocked internally.  Both happened near the public

         12  library.

         13                 It happens after climbing steps,

         14  usually, and as we all know, living in New York

         15  City, it's really hard to avoid climbing steps.  I

         16  take the subway to work like most people, and so I

         17  just, I think it's really important because if it

         18  hadn't been for those defibrillators, I wouldn't be

         19  sitting here and I know that many people are not

         20  nearly as lucky as I was.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         22  much for coming in and telling us your story.  And,

         23  like one of the first witnesses said, you do have

         24  two birthdays.

         25                 MS. HUSSAIN:  I do, well, um, four.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Well, I hope

          3  that's all you have.

          4                 MS. HUSSAIN:  I know.  My parents are

          5  getting sick of buying me presents.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay, next -- are

          7  we playing the video first?  Okay, next we're going

          8  to -- sure that's fine, if you want to testify and

          9  then the video, that's fine.

         10                 MR. ACOMPORA:  Good afternoon and

         11  thank you for having me.  My name is John Acompora.

         12  I would like to begin my testimony today by telling

         13  you a little bit about my son, Louis, and then we'll

         14  watch a short video.

         15                 Louis was an exceptional young man.

         16  He was an honor roll student, a member of the

         17  National Honor Society, and won the scholastic

         18  athlete of the year award in his middle school.  He

         19  was the co- captain of his lacrosse team, he was

         20  also the goalie, and most importantly, he was loved

         21  by his family, friends, teammates and community.

         22                 On March 25, 2000, he was playing in

         23  his first game of his high school career.  Early in

         24  the second quarter, he blocked a routine shot with

         25  his chest.  Louis took a few steps and collapsed.
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          2  At the time, we had no idea that Louis was in sudden

          3  cardiac arrest.  CPR was started on Louis right away

          4  by his coach, but to no avail.  Louis died on the

          5  field that day, with my wife and I kneeling by his

          6  side, because he was lacking a very important link

          7  in the chain of survival, there was no defibrillator

          8  until EMS arrived 12 minutes after the event.

          9                 Louis died from a syndrome known as

         10  commodia cortis.  This occurs when a blunt impact

         11  interrupts a critical rhythm in the heart.  The

         12  heart begins to quiver and the only known treatment

         13  is defibrillation.  I also want to point out that

         14  Louis was 100 percent healthy.  No pre- existing

         15  condition whatsoever.  He was wearing a chest

         16  protector.  Louis was 14 years- old when he passed

         17  away, and he died a quarter of a mile away from a

         18  major trauma center on Long Island, Good Samaritan

         19  Hospital.

         20                 At this juncture in our lives, we

         21  started the Louis J. Acompora Memorial Foundation,

         22  to educate and help promote awareness of commodia

         23  cortis and automatic defibrillators.  On the side

         24  que, this is a kit that we send around the world

         25  now.  We have sent close to 8,000 of these around

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the world to help educate the need for AEDs and

          3  early defibrillation.

          4                 The Foundation also began the process

          5  of legislation.  The Suffolk County Legislation took

          6  steps to implement a task force, which would

          7  determine where and to what extent AEDs should be

          8  placed in our county, and today, we now have all of

          9  our, all of our police cars equipped, as well as

         10  county parks, buildings are also equipped and the

         11  staff trained to use them.

         12                 Our next step was to have a law

         13  passed for all of New York State schools to have

         14  AEDs.  Despite major obstacles, this legislation was

         15  passed for the safety of all of those who enter

         16  public schools, this was known as Louis' Law.  Nine

         17  lives, nine lives have been saved by this important

         18  law, which was signed in May 7th of 2002.

         19       The ripple effect of this legislation has been

         20  enormous in many areas.  Due to the high visibility

         21  of our AED legislation, a local golf course

         22  implemented an AED program and had a save within

         23  weeks.

         24                 We now have small to major businesses

         25  with AED programs and also town municipalities are
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          2  participating as well. These laws have also created

          3  great opportunity for both the public and the

          4  private sector to partnership.  We have been blessed

          5  with this life saving technology, and without a

          6  doubt, had an AED been available to Louis on March

          7  25th, in a timely manner, I believe he would be

          8  alive today.

          9                 We believe that an AED will be as

         10  common as a fire extinguisher, and why can't that

         11  day be today?  Let's not have another senseless

         12  tragedy.  Let's enact Law 211 and 206, where AEDs

         13  can and will save lives.  I see no reason why New

         14  York City cannot offer the same life saving

         15  opportunities that have been required by Governor,

         16  by the Governor of New York State for the public

         17  school system.  True public access defibrillation

         18  has been shown to save lives.  By New York City

         19  taking the proper steps, this City can well be on

         20  its way to becoming a heart safe community.  Now,

         21  I'd like to show --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thanks --

         23                 MR. ACOMPORA: A short video -- thank

         24  you.

         25                 MR. HANRAHAN:  I'm Jim Hanrahan.  I'm
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          2  a member of St. Georges Golf and Country Club.  I've

          3  been a member for about six years and Paul is the

          4  guy who saved my life.

          5                 PAUL:  That day, we were preparing

          6  for lunch, I received a phone call from someone from

          7  a cell phone, someone was down on the third hole.

          8                 MR. HANRAHAN:  When I went down at

          9  the third green, they called and got Paul and he

         10  came up and they were giving me CPR.

         11                 PAUL:  I grabbed my AED unit, I got

         12  down there and you don't have time to respond to --

         13  so many things are going through head, this unit,

         14  you just put it down, you put the pads on.  He was

         15  non- responsive to any CPR, and once the unit was

         16  working and functioning and telling me what to do.

         17  It went through the steps, shock was advised, after

         18  the second shock, he came to, and I'm so grateful

         19  that --

         20                 MR. HANRAHAN: So am I --

         21                 PAUL:  -- That we had these units and

         22  that they help you, because your adrenaline is

         23  rushing and you have so much to think about, but

         24  these units are vital to have because CPR alone

         25  wasn't going to do it.
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          2                 MR. GRAY:  My name is Dexter Gray.

          3  The night of the incident I was playing basketball

          4  and with a wonderful group of guys and I felt

          5  lightheaded.  Actually, I was having a pretty good

          6  game up until that point, and I felt lightheaded and

          7  sat down and was speaking to one of my teammates and

          8  I just fell unconscious.

          9                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Me and doc was

         10  playing on the court.  Dexter had just finished and

         11  he was sitting down on the side of the gym and next

         12  thing we heard was, we need help.  At that point I

         13  remember the training, call the ambulance, get the

         14  AED machine, and we got it, and it seemed like

         15  eternity at that point, but we managed to get the

         16  machine together and hook up Dexter and from there,

         17  the machine took over.  It was very easy to use and

         18  it was a little shocking, you know, no pun intended,

         19  like you know to push that machine and see Dexter

         20  limp.  We had to do it three times, and he came back

         21  to life and it was just fabulous.

         22                 MR. GRAY:  You'd be surprised how

         23  that little machine can save one's life.  You know,

         24  if it wasn't in place, I, more than likely, wouldn't

         25  be here.
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          2                 MR. TIERNEY:  MY name is John

          3  Tierney.  It was a rainy afternoon, a rainy evening.

          4    I was going to watch my nephew place a football

          5  game.  It was a championship game, a Nassau County

          6  playoff game.  It was being conducted at Hofstra

          7  University.  I was walking into the stadium before

          8  the national anthem was played.  I remember having

          9  about three second warning, I got faint, went to sit

         10  down in the stadium and woke up in the emergency

         11  room.

         12                 MR. SMITH:  My name's Whitney Smith.

         13  I am 28 years- old, and it was a rainy night, right

         14  before the football game began.  The national anthem

         15  was playing and I heard some screams from the

         16  stadium to come up into the stadium, and when I got

         17  up into the stands, I saw that Mr. Tierney was

         18  laying, and they had, laying on the ground, and they

         19  had started CPR on him. Shortly after, right after

         20  that, I called for the AED that was on the

         21  sidelines.  One of my friends sent it up to me and

         22  we moved Mr. Tierney into a safe location to shock

         23  him.  I was amazed that Mr. Tierney actually woke up

         24  and began talking to us.  It was simply amazing.

         25                 MR. TIERNEY:  It's a life saver.  If
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          2  it wasn't for that piece of equipment, the training

          3  of the people and this gentleman here, the other

          4  people, his team, that was a team effort that

          5  brought me around, I wouldn't be here.

          6                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Well, it was a

          7  Saturday morning, day before Mother's Day, which I

          8  was kind of dreading because my mom had just passed

          9  away.  I had a million errands to run, but Tim had a

         10  baseball game, and against my better judgment,

         11  because like I said, I had to get to banks, I had a

         12  million things to do, and went to the ball game and

         13  my sister and her fiance' were there, and we were

         14  sitting there watching the game, absolutely felt

         15  fine and all of a sudden I turned to my sister and I

         16  told her that I'm about to pass out and I was gone.

         17                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  After a while, it

         18  was realized that she needed further assistance and

         19  we called for an AED, and at that point, an AED

         20  arrived with Gary.

         21                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I said, well did we

         22  call an ambulance? And he said yes, and I went back,

         23  I was going to run over and I ran back and grabbed

         24  the AED and brought it with me, and when I got

         25  there, they're doing CPR on the woman, and it was,
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          2  at that point, evident that she didn't have a pulse,

          3  and she wasn't breathing, wasn't responding, so we

          4  took out the AED and placed it on her, and the

          5  machine just did everything it was supposed to do,

          6  functioned perfectly.  I think we had to administer

          7  three shocks, and by that time the rescue people had

          8  come, the fire department and the police department,

          9  and at that point the pulse was restored, she was

         10  breathing, and they took her away and she's fine to

         11  this day.

         12                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Life's too short.

         13  I mean, with me, we used to get into a lot of

         14  arguments and I wish I could take that all back

         15  because you only have one mother and it's not worth

         16  it.  I made some mistakes.  I've learned from them

         17  and I'm not going to take life for granted.

         18                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  We had a young man

         19  in our school, this young man was coming to a class

         20  and collapsed outside.

         21                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I was just getting

         22  relieved off of the front gate duty and I heard one

         23  of the girls call on the radio, saying a student was

         24  down.  She got back on the radio and said that he

         25  wasn't breathing.  We did an assessment and realized
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          2  he had no pulse and he wasn't breathing and we went

          3  ahead and started CPR.

          4                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  And they began CPR

          5  and I hooked him up to the AED.  It took a long time

          6  to get ambulance there and that we were there with

          7  him for a very long time, it seemed to me, that we

          8  would have been continuing to do CPR and hoping for

          9  the best.  But, without the AED, his chances of

         10  survival were next to nothing.  With the AED, he

         11  came to life in front of us.

         12                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  The fact that we

         13  were on him so quickly, and Marilyn was, as I turned

         14  around, she was right there.  We all felt pretty

         15  good that we got him to the point, you know, that he

         16  had a chance, and without the AED, that would not

         17  have been possible.  To me, it was a miracle.  I saw

         18  him about four months after the incident.  I didn't

         19  approach him at all, but I saw him at his locker and

         20  he just blended in with all the other students in

         21  the hallway and I thought it was pretty cool he was

         22  doing that.

         23                 ANDREA:  Hi, my name is Andrea, I'm

         24  17 years- old. I go to Minnisink Valley High School.

         25    I'm a senior.  It was December 16th and I was
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          2  sitting in class doing paperwork, I stood up, and

          3  next thing I know I was in the hospital a couple

          4  days later.  One of the students had told my teacher

          5  that I fainted and he turned around and called the

          6  nurse and one of the other teachers performed CPR as

          7  the nurse was coming in with the defibrillator.

          8  Without the defibrillator being within a few minutes

          9  away, I probably wouldn't be here right now.

         10                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  We have to have

         11  them everywhere. You never know when it's going to

         12  happen to a person next to you. You need to have

         13  that extra effort made to save a life.

         14                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  You know, what

         15  happened to me is a small thing compared to the many

         16  people who may not have them, or schools, churches,

         17  organizations like that.  They're very important.

         18  There's no dollar sign you could place on having a

         19  piece of equipment like that handy.  I was proud to

         20  be a part of this whole thing and felt real good

         21  about the way everybody performed.  It was, to me,

         22  it was a miracle.

         23                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  It works, you know,

         24  I mean, it's just, it's amazing.

         25                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  With the AED, he
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          2  came to life in front of us.

          3                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  CPR sometimes won't

          4  do it, and that's evidence that these units work.

          5  AEDs are not that expensive, you know, and how

          6  expensive, you know, is a life?  Was it, what is a

          7  life worth?  It's worth more than 12 hundred bucks,

          8  or however much an AED costs.  If I never use that

          9  unit again, it was well worth it.

         10                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I'll say.

         11                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  That's right.

         12                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  He'll take me out

         13  for something.

         14                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Thank you so much.

         15  The Acompora's, I feel that I owe my life to them.

         16                 MR. ACOMPORA:  Those are some of the

         17  lives that Louis has saved.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  What's the

         19  actual cost of one of these machines?

         20                 MR. ACOMPORA:  Well, I guess you

         21  weren't here earlier.  There's been a lot of talk

         22  about that.  Quite honestly, you're asking a person

         23  who has a very biased opinion on that.  I would have

         24  given anything to have had one the morning of March

         25  25, 2000.  But, to answer your question, on a State
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          2  bid, probably in the neighborhood of $1,200.00 to

          3  $1,800.00, Jim, in that area? I mean, my wife buys

          4  them one at a time to donate, and we've never paid

          5  more than $1,800.00 for them.  So, the price varies.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Is it a

          7  machine that you have, it has a battery that you

          8  have to recharge or anything like that?

          9                 MR. ACOMPORA:  Depending on the

         10  units, and I'll let the professionals answer that,

         11  most of the batteries are a five- year lithium

         12  battery.  The machine I keep in my office hangs on

         13  the wall every morning, I just pass by to make sure

         14  that the indicator says okay.  That's the extent of

         15  the maintenance on it. I walk by it everyday and

         16  glance at it.  But there are people in this room

         17  that could, can answer those questions more

         18  technically for you, about the life of the battery

         19  and the maintenance.  As far as I'm concerned, I'm

         20  buying a piece of equipment that I pray to God every

         21  day I never have to use.  And, as far as I'm

         22  concerned, if I do have to use it, it only has to

         23  work once, and then I'll throw it away and buy a new

         24  one.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Well, we should,
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          2  just for the panel's sake, is, why don't you testify

          3  next, that's Rachel, testify next, and if that's

          4  okay, and then we'll play your video and then we'll

          5  have Dr. Richardson and then Wendy Drilling go, and

          6  then, Drillings, I'm sorry, and then we'll take

          7  questions after that.  So, Rachel, why don't you go

          8  and then we'll put your video on after you testify,

          9  if that's okay.  The light, meaning light off, yea.

         10                 MRS. MOYER:  My name is Rachel Moyer

         11  and I'm the mother of three children.  I will always

         12  have three children even though Gregory isn't here

         13  with me physically, he's here with me spiritually.

         14  Greg was playing basketball, which you will see in

         15  the video, that's just three minutes long, and you

         16  will actually see a segment of the game where he was

         17  playing that night.

         18                 Gregory was asymptomatic.  Never any

         19  sign of high blood pressure, dizziness, chest pains,

         20  shortness of breath, nothing that anyone would ever

         21  believe that there was something wrong with him.  I

         22  didn't know anything about an AED, but you can ask

         23  me any of the questions that you've asked other

         24  people today, anyone, and I can give you the answer

         25  to them, because my life has changed since December
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          2  2, 2000.

          3                 I didn't realize AEDs, portable AEDs,

          4  have been around since the early  '70's.  I know in

          5  1979, the father of a Super Bowl player was saved in

          6  Miami, when they had the Super Bowl game, and that

          7  was the extent of my knowledge.  My husband and I,

          8  since my son died, we became trainers in CPR and AED

          9  and we have trained about 4,000 people, and if we,

         10  there's about five of us that do it.  We feel as

         11  though that this is sort of part of Gregory's legacy

         12  and children like Louis, even though their time on

         13  Earth was very, very short, they left us with a

         14  mission.

         15                 It could have been very easy for us

         16  to have just gone off and not done anything at all.

         17  But, when that first life was saved in a school, and

         18  we realized that cities like Miami and Milwaukee,

         19  Los Angeles and Las Vegas and Las Vegas even has the

         20  three minute rule where you have to be able to get

         21  to a defibrillator in three minutes in order to have

         22  one on your property, I think that it says a lot.

         23  It's also making people feel more comfortable about

         24  AEDs.

         25                 I walked in here and I said, where is
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          2  the AED? Just to assure you, Councilman Stewart, I

          3  am sure I can this on you, ready to use, CPR given

          4  and a first shock by the time that they went to

          5  Council Member's Oddo's office to pick- up his AED,

          6  because I believe that's the closest one on the

          7  second floor. So, just be assured that if you have

          8  cardiac arrest, that you have plenty of people in

          9  here, I'm sure, that could do the same thing that I

         10  could do.  I never leave home without it, I stole

         11  American Express' line.  I travel with it.  I

         12  watched my son die, and I never want to have that

         13  experience again with anyone.

         14                 New York City is and has always been

         15  a leader and I see them as being a leader with these

         16  two pieces of legislation.  Statistics vary, but you

         17  can figure that there's probably a thousand people a

         18  day that probably die from cardiac arrest.  You had

         19  a big bike ride this past weekend on Sunday, and you

         20  had two deaths attributed to sudden cardiac arrest.

         21  One was a 29 year- old man and the other was a 60

         22  year- old man.  Perhaps, in one of those five

         23  locations, where people could have a rest stop, if

         24  there had been a defibrillator there, those people,

         25  maybe one of them, at least, would be saved.
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          2                 We're not talking big money.  When

          3  you talk about the price, $2,000.00, $2,500.00,

          4  $3,000.00.  You could probably pay, if you wanted,

          5  as much as you wanted to.  But, if you're talking

          6  anything over five AEDs, the top manufacturers are

          7  willing to wheel and deal and give you the best deal

          8  for your bucks.  They realize that, you know, the

          9  FDA assures you that they all work.  We have

         10  pediatric pads in three of them, the fourth one is

         11  waiting any day now, to get their certification to

         12  use, or approval to use pediatric AEDs.  But, when

         13  someone is dead, they're dead.  So, it doesn't

         14  really matter if it's a pediatric AED or not, you

         15  would use it, I would assume.

         16                 Anyone that doesn't want an AED in a

         17  public facility, I think, has to have something

         18  wrong with them.  I tell them that if you don't want

         19  it because of the responsibility, the legal

         20  responsibility and whatnot, Cardiac Survival Act was

         21  passed in 2000.  I'll even be kind, because I know

         22  you're a Democrat, right?  It was Clinton who signed

         23  it, that -- and I know you're a Democrat.  He signed

         24  it.  I think it was one of the best things that he

         25  signed.  Basically, it said, as long as you're not
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          2  going to do it for money and you're not going to be,

          3  do any physical, any more physical damage, which you

          4  can't do because a person is already dead, then, you

          5  are safe.  You are not going to be sued. No one has

          6  ever been sued for using this machine and it not

          7  working.  The idea is to do as much as you can.

          8                 If you take a look at the prices of

          9  this in comparison, we should be getting a lot more

         10  for our money, because of the locations we're going

         11  to have them in, including telephone poles that

         12  they're putting them in in Seattle.  So the idea is

         13  about them being as common as fire extinguishers.

         14  Originally, fire extinguishers were unique.  Now,

         15  every new facility, I think, that is open, should be

         16  required to have an AED as part of the statute.

         17                 As we said before, that it's only

         18  three hours.  We always manage to find the money

         19  when we need it.  Whether it's for your park,

         20  whether it's for your walking trail or whatever. I

         21  know that I was, my example was the fact that,

         22  sudden cardiac arrest does not discriminate.  You

         23  don't have to be young or old, thin or fat, rich or

         24  poor, and the important thing is that you have a

         25  heart.
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          2                 My example was going to ask, I was

          3  hoping that maybe I would see Mayor Bloomberg today,

          4  and say, we could try it out on you and it would

          5  prove whether you had a heart or not, because it

          6  wouldn't work.  If you have the heart that you're

          7  supposed to have, to hopefully go along with this

          8  bill.  If you did need it, it would work, and it

          9  works on everyone, including the attorneys, which I

         10  think is important to know.  Even though there are

         11  rumors going around that some of them may not have

         12  hearts either, not these Council Members.

         13                 The other people that were up here

         14  today, and they were talking about the problems in

         15  schools and the money well spent.  Most of the

         16  people that have, have some type of a coronary

         17  problem could be saved by a defibrillator and

         18  whatever the problem was, it could be worked on, if

         19  you could be successful.

         20                 But, it's not going to work if that

         21  person dies and an AED is not going to be there to

         22  help them, and we've seen in -- right now, we have a

         23  list of 13 saves in using school AEDs in

         24  Pennsylvania, we have 11 saves -- no, 11 saves in

         25  Pennsylvania, including one at a rest stop, where
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          2  they just started putting them in on the highway, of

          3  which we don't need a bill for, they just decided to

          4  use their funds that way.  I think, then in

          5  Washington Post, three weeks ago, David Brown wrote

          6  an article about the fact that there was a doctor

          7  who went to a health club, working out, and someone

          8  went into cardiac arrest and died.  Two weeks later

          9  someone else when into cardiac arrest and died and

         10  the club had done nothing about trying to get a

         11  defibrillator there, and for what they charge, there

         12  should be an AED there.

         13                 A layperson can use it.  They're

         14  geared for fourth graders.  You don't have to be a

         15  rocket scientist, and I'm a special education

         16  teacher, and I will put any of the fifth and sixth

         17  graders that I have certified, and family and

         18  friends, up against any EMT as far as what they're

         19  supposed to do, because they're not afraid of the

         20  technology.  So, the batteries, itself, generally

         21  last three to five years.  The electrode that you

         22  put on, they last for two years.  I would like you

         23  now to meet my son and tell me, after watching him

         24  play in this basketball game, whether you thought

         25  that he was going to be a victim of sudden cardiac
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          2  arrest.

          3                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  A great smile and

          4  we knew everything was okay.

          5                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  But, everything

          6  wasn't okay. Within moments, another player

          7  frantically sent for Greg's parents.  They raced

          8  back to the locker room to discover their only son

          9  lying unconscious on the floor.

         10                 MR. MOYER:  I thought perhaps he took

         11  a blow in the game that I hadn't seen, but no way

         12  did I ever believe that he was that close to death.

         13                 MRS. MOYER:  I was saying, Gregory,

         14  breath, you're not breathing, why aren't you

         15  breathing Greg, what's the matter? And he opened his

         16  eyes and he gasped that breath and I know that he

         17  heard me.

         18                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Greg had suffered a

         19  sudden cardiac arrest from an enlarged heart no one

         20  knew he had.  As the minutes ticked away, it took an

         21  unbearably long time for the ambulance to reach the

         22  remote Pennsylvania school, and then a half hour

         23  more to drive to the hospital.  The emergency room

         24  doctor was unable to save Greg.

         25                 MR. MOYER:  And I again asked him to
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          2  try one more time, figuring it would take a miracle,

          3  but when it's your child lying there, you try

          4  anything you can.

          5                 MRS. MOYER:  And I remember going

          6  over to Gregory and holding him.  I said, don't

          7  anybody tell me that he's in a better place, because

          8  so happy? So happy here.

          9                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  At the same time

         10  his parents began coping with Greg's lost, they also

         11  learned a disturbing piece of information, that a

         12  little device like this might have saved their son.

         13  Automatic external defibrillators, or AEDs, are

         14  portable versions of the larger machines used in

         15  hospitals.

         16                 When someone suffers a sudden cardiac

         17  arrest, the heart's electrical impulses become

         18  chaotic, its rhythm abnormal, and the heart is

         19  unable to pump.  But, the defibrillator shocks the

         20  heart out of its abnormal rhythm and allows it to

         21  beat normally again.  But, the key is using the

         22  defibrillator within the first ten minutes.

         23  Although AEDs seem like machines only trained

         24  medical personnel use, the truth is, that with just

         25  a few hours training, anyone can use one.  The
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          2  machine literally tells you what to do.

          3                 AED MACHINE:  Stat clear, analyzing

          4  balance.

          5                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  The machine

          6  analyzes the patient's heart rhythm and then tells

          7  you if a shock is necessary.

          8                 AED MACHINE:  Shock advised.

          9                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Who wouldn't want

         10  to see a defibrillator in every school.

         11                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Within days of

         12  Greg's death, the Moyers had turned their grief into

         13  action, establishing the Gregory Moyer Defibrillator

         14  Foundation.  They have raised over a quarter of a

         15  million dollars and donated dozens of the devices to

         16  area schools, and with their help, in 2001, then

         17  Governor Tom Ridge, signed the first law in the

         18  country to provide State funding for AEDs in

         19  schools.

         20                 MRS. MOYER:  When they say, we don't

         21  have the money, I say, you know, give up buying a

         22  computer, give up buying a set of dictionaries.  Go

         23  to your PTA's, go, you know, have a bake sale,

         24  because these machines don't cost that much money.

         25  The average cost is about $2,000.00, and you can't
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          2  put a price on a child's head.

          3                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  That's a lesson the

          4  Moyer family has learned too well.  There is no

          5  tombstone at Greg's grave. It's a final step, his

          6  parents say, they can't bring themselves to make,

          7  despite the legacy Greg now leaves behind.

          8                 MR. MOYER:  It doesn't bring Greg

          9  back and in our minds, we know that we're doing the

         10  right thing, but in our hearts, it still hurts just

         11  as much.

         12                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: Sudden cardiac

         13  arrest (video is unclear.) But as you point out,

         14  time, getting the defibrillator to the person having

         15  the attack is so critical.

         16                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Every minute you

         17  lose is a ten percent chance less of survival, after

         18  ten minutes, virtually no chance.  That's why you

         19  have to have them  (video is unclear.).

         20                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  So, even within one

         21  minute, you have a 90 percent chance of survival,

         22  two minutes, 80 percent --

         23                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: Exactly.

         24                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  And, as you said,

         25  you can learn very easily.  These are simple.  Every
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          2  public place ought to have one and I have one, just

          3  in case I could give you some day.  I'm a real

          4  believer in these devices.

          5                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  How much do they

          6  cost?

          7                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  The average price

          8  about $2,000.00.  It keeps coming down.  $2,000.00

          9  to save a life is a bargain.

         10                 UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Yea, all right, Jim

         11  Johnson. Thanks very much.  If you want more

         12  information on automatic external defibrillators, go

         13  to our website, abc.

         14                 MRS. MOYER:  There's only one other

         15  thing I would like to say.  That there are 13 States

         16  now that are pending legislation about getting AEDs

         17  in schools and public places, and as we continue our

         18  march through the country, along with the parents,

         19  such as Louis Acompora's, the survivors I have

         20  spoken to have said to me, we were at the right

         21  place, at the right time. I think there has to be at

         22  time, a point, where there never will be a wrong

         23  place, that it will always be a right place.  You

         24  will always be there with an AED if someone needs

         25  it, and perhaps, at that point, we'll be able to put
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          2  a tombstone at Gregory's grave.

          3                 Gregory should have been 19 a week

          4  ago this past week, and we go to visit, and we say

          5  that we will continue to work with New York City and

          6  make sure that New York City, with all its people,

          7  and my two girls that live here, has a defibrillator

          8  in all public places and I thank you very, very much

          9  for everything that you all have done.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I just want to

         11  thank both of you very much.  I really can't imagine

         12  what your loss is and I can't imagine how difficult

         13  it is to have to, so frequently, re live it for

         14  public officials like myself.  I am truly indebted

         15  to you and just want to say that it's an honor to be

         16  able to work with both of you and both of your

         17  families, as we move forward on this very, very

         18  important issue.  Dr. Richardson, or Wendy, if you

         19  would prefer to go next.  Okay, sure, why don't we

         20  do that and then we'll have Dr. Richardson.

         21                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  Whatever you want to

         22  do.

         23                 DR. RICHARDSON:  You go ahead.

         24                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  My name is --

         25                 DR. RICHARDSON: I have a feeling this
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          2  would be a tough act to follow at this point.

          3                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  -- Wendy Drillings

          4  and --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Ms. Drillings,

          6  just pull the mic to you a little closer, just

          7  because it's a little hard to hear sometimes.

          8                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  I thank you for the

          9  opportunity to speak in support of Intro. 211 and

         10  206.  It's emotional just hearing these stories and

         11  I think nothing can compare with the loss of a

         12  child.  I lost my husband, and -- sorry, is it not

         13  loud enough?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That's okay.

         15                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  There's not that

         16  many people to talk to.  I lost my husband --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- Wendy, I just

         18  want to make sure -- I don't mean to interrupt you,

         19  but I know that there's not as many Council Members

         20  still left here, but I just want to make sure this

         21  panel knows, which I think it's very important --

         22  sometimes we have these hearings and the agencies

         23  testify and then they leave, and don't necessarily

         24  hear the public.

         25                 Today, doctor, whose last name I'm
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          2  now forgetting, I apologize, Dr. Silver from the

          3  Department of Health, who woman who testified, has

          4  stayed through all of the public's testimony and I

          5  want to thank her for that very much.  Other

          6  representatives of the Department of Health and

          7  other City agencies are here.

          8                 So, I just want to note that it

          9  doesn't always happen.  I think it's a credit to all

         10  of you that so many of them have stayed.  So, I

         11  wanted to make sure you knew that all of your

         12  stories about your children and your husband and the

         13  medical expertise we're going to hear, are being

         14  heard not just by the Council, but also by the

         15  Bloomberg Administration.

         16                 MS. DRILLINGS:  Thanks.  On May 25,

         17  2001, my husband, Joel Drillings, died from cardiac

         18  arrest.  Joel had gone to work that morning and

         19  after work planned on working out at his health

         20  club, as he did several days a week.  While at the

         21  gym, his heart went into ventricular fibrillation.

         22  Although EMS was called and an AED was used when

         23  they arrived, it was not soon enough.  As I came to

         24  learn, unless cardiac arrest is treated within

         25  minutes, the person will die.
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          2                 The sudden loss of my husband created

          3  an enormous void in my life.  I expected to see my

          4  husband walk through the door of our home that

          5  evening.  I expected to live a long life with him.

          6  I didn't expect to have to rush to the hospital and

          7  see my husband on a gurney with a tube down his

          8  throat.  In an instant my whole life changed.  In a

          9  moment, I went from being a happily married woman to

         10  a wonderful man, to being widowed and trying to

         11  embrace the reality of his death.  A reality that

         12  takes years to embrace.

         13                 I guess what I want people to know is

         14  that behind each statistic is a real person, someone

         15  who was loved, who loved, who touched other people's

         16  lives and had dreams still to live out.  My husband

         17  was no exception.  His death meant that the plans

         18  and hopes he had not yet fulfilled never would

         19  happen.  No more birthdays or anniversaries.  No

         20  more vacations or holiday dinners and never getting

         21  to grow old together.  All these milestones and more

         22  will be missed because his life was cut short.

         23  Joel's chances of survival would have been much

         24  greater if his gym had had an AED and people trained

         25  in the use of it. All the medical information
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          2  available today supports this.

          3                 Cardiac arrest took Joel's life and

          4  that is the saddest part of my experience.  However,

          5  I am not the only one impacted by his death.  Joel

          6  was a dedicated math teacher in New York City for

          7  more than 31 years, continuing to work after he was

          8  eligible to retire.  Several of Joel's students at

          9  Cordosa High School sent me personal letters

         10  expressing their feelings about him.  One student

         11  wrote, Mr. Drillings would go out of his way to help

         12  any student not only as a math teacher, but as a

         13  friend. He was the teacher who loved to laugh and

         14  could put a smile on anyone's face.

         15                 Joel was also an active member of the

         16  Volunteer Fire Department in our community, and in

         17  fact, had been certified both in CPR and in AED

         18  training.  He recognized the importance of proper

         19  AED useage and training.  How ironic that at the

         20  time he needed this type of help, the system failed

         21  him.  The passage of Intro. 211 and Intro. 206 will

         22  ensure that emergencies can be dealt with while

         23  waiting for EMS to arrive.

         24                 What I want to impress upon you today

         25  is this, timely use of an AED can save lives.
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          2  Joel's death could have been prevented, and that's

          3  why I'm here to ask you to support Intro. 211 and

          4  206.  The technology is already available.  The

          5  equipment costs are minimal in comparison to the

          6  cost of losing a husband, father, friend and

          7  dedicated teacher.  How gyms and other public spaces

          8  are not required to have this type of life saving

          9  equipment and people trained in their use is

         10  difficult to understand.  Sudden cardiac arrest is a

         11  top killer of Americans. In my opinion, it is

         12  essential that everything be in place to assure the

         13  best chance of survival for anyone who suffers a

         14  cardiac arrest.  Had his health club had an AED and

         15  a trained operator, Joel could have survived and he

         16  would be here testifying in support of this life-

         17  saving law.

         18                 Just off my prepared thing, I

         19  understand that City officials are worried about

         20  obesity and exercise for children, and I do think

         21  that proper nutrition is important.  I do think

         22  exercise is important.  But, I just can't see

         23  putting that issue together with an AED.  It's all

         24  about health, but you can't lump it together.

         25                 My husband had no warning that this
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          2  was going to happen, the same way these children

          3  did, and his life could have been saved.  I agree

          4  you can save lives with proper nutrition and

          5  exercise.  I think there's so much work that has to

          6  be done in that in terms of what the schools do, and

          7  proper education.  But, I think that to mix that in

          8  to this issue is really almost irrelevant, because

          9  it has nothing to do with the fact that you can save

         10  lives, and you can save live.  It might cost a

         11  million dollars to build a park, we're talking about

         12  $2,000.00 to put into a public space.

         13                 I mean, you know, myself too, I never

         14  knew anything -- I didn't even know the difference

         15  between cardiac arrest and a heart attack.  I had no

         16  idea until it touched my life and took away someone

         17  I loved dearly, who should be here, and why he

         18  didn't have that chance? Why he wasn't in the right

         19  place at the right time?  I could ask myself that

         20  question for a million years and I'll never have an

         21  answer that will satisfy me.

         22                 What I do think though, is that I've

         23  learned a lot and I think that the public has to

         24  learn a lot and be aware of it.  What I've learned

         25  today is still more than I knew when I came into
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          2  this room.  I really -- it makes me think about

          3  things like how airports tell people about this, how

          4  it's all about public awareness, and my work with

          5  the American Heart Association has taught me how

          6  important that is.  But, it just seems to me that

          7  we're not talking about something that's that

          8  complicated here.  I mean, I'm ready to take the

          9  training and go buy one myself.  I mean that

         10  seriously.  It's not that complicated and I think as

         11  private citizens, we probably have some sort of

         12  responsibility to do whatever we can.

         13                 But, certainly, to ask health clubs,

         14  schools and all public places to be prepared for

         15  something that takes, and again, the numbers vary,

         16  from a quarter of a million to 400,000 people a year

         17  in this country.  It just seems like it's -- we're

         18  not asking that much.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

         20  much, and I think you're right, we're not.  We don't

         21  believe we are asking that much at all.  You know,

         22  it's certainly -- I think you're right, the more we

         23  talk about this, the more we get the word out and

         24  the more people who get trained, you know, the

         25  better.
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          2                 You raise -- it was very powerful to

          3  hear you and your husband's story and to think

          4  about, you know, your loss, but then also the City's

          5  loss, that we lost a great teacher at a time that we

          6  need them more than ever.  So --

          7                 MRS. DRILLINGS: And I just want to

          8  compliment, I mean --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN  -- sure.

         10                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  -- Not only the fact

         11  that the health agencies stay, which I think is

         12  important, but, you know, I came here expecting less

         13  support than I've seen from the Council even.  So,

         14  it was a really wonderful surprise to know that

         15  there are City officials that care so much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  It's practically

         17  impossible to say no to Jimmy Oddo on most things,

         18  but certainly on this.

         19                 MRS. DRILLINGS:  Well, I'm to have

         20  met you, because it's really something that you

         21  should feel really good about.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  Dr.

         23  Richardson, thank you very much, from Mount Sinai

         24  School of Medicine.

         25                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Thank you.  First,
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          2  I'd like to apologize to the Committee for being

          3  late.  I know I was scheduled to speak on the second

          4  panel, which I'm sure would have been a lot easier

          5  for me.  But, I thank you for the opportunity to

          6  talk to you.

          7                 I think it's impossible for me to sit

          8  here and not be moved by the stories of these people

          9  about the loss of loved ones to cardiac arrest, and

         10  certainly as a mother of two teenage children, I'm

         11  very sympathetic to the idea that you would like to

         12  do whatever it takes to make them safe.  Sometimes,

         13  I think I'd like to put them in a bubble, just to

         14  protect them forever.  But, of course, that's not

         15  possible.  So, sympathetic as I am to the feelings

         16  that have been expressed here, I'm also mindful of

         17  the responsibility that you face as Members of the

         18  City Council to make choices about how best to use

         19  City resources at a time where there aren't

         20  resources to do all of the things that we'd like to

         21  do.

         22                 I had the pleasure of testifying

         23  before the City Council last year about the issue of

         24  AEDs.  At that time, I described to you the fact

         25  that there was a large trial underway to actually
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          2  look at whether or not public access defibrillation

          3  was effective.  I'm back here today, really to

          4  report to you on the results of that study in hopes

          5  that you will use that information to guide the

          6  choices you've made about where AEDs should be

          7  placed.  There are copies of my written testimony

          8  available for the Council Members.

          9                 So, I'm here, as Chairwoman Quinn

         10  mentioned, I am Vice- Chair of Emergency Medicine at

         11  Mount Sinai.  I'm an emergency physician indeed.  I

         12  was delayed because I was on duty in the emergency

         13  department and could not leave until my colleague

         14  arrived to take over.  So, again, I apologize for my

         15  tardiness.  But, I also was the Principal

         16  Investigator of the New York City site of the Public

         17  Access Defibrillation Trial.

         18                 Public access defibrillation is, I

         19  think, everybody in the room knows by now, it's

         20  really a community approach to teach lay responders

         21  to treat victims of cardiac arrest using automated

         22  external defibrillators.  The PAD Trial was designed

         23  to determine whether or not public access

         24  defibrillation actually saves lives.  This is a

         25  study that was funded by the NIH, by the National
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          2  Heart, Lung and Blood Institute.  There was

          3  significant additional funding from the American

          4  Heart Association and support from all of the AED

          5  manufacturers.

          6                 Participating sites in the United

          7  States and Canada enrolled almost a thousand

          8  community facilities, and these were facilities of

          9  all types, high rise residential buildings, gated

         10  communities, shopping malls, airport terminals,

         11  offices, business parks, factories, stadiums, health

         12  clubs, hotels, golf courses, many, many types of

         13  facilities were enrolled into the study.

         14                 Each facility was randomly assigned

         15  to one of two groups.  There was, what we call the

         16  intervention group, which received training in both

         17  CPR and the use of AEDs, and what we call the

         18  control group, where responders were trained in CPR

         19  only.  At each one of these facilities, non- medical

         20  volunteers, such as office staff, sales clerks,

         21  security guards, neighborhood tenants, were

         22  recruited and trained to recognize cardiac arrest,

         23  access 9- 1- 1 and administer in CPR.  Those who

         24  were in the intervention group were also trained to

         25  use an AED, and AEDs were provided at those
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          2  facilities.  So, about half of the facilities got

          3  AEDS, the other half got CPR only.

          4                 New York City was one of 24 cities in

          5  the United States and Canada that was involved in

          6  this Trial.  Here in New York City, we recruited 60

          7  community locations, including residential buildings

          8  and museums.  Approximately 40,000 individuals live

          9  and work in the facilities that were recruited into

         10  the New York City PAD Trial.  Again, half of these

         11  units were randomly assigned to receive training and

         12  CPR only, and the other half were assigned to

         13  receive CPR and the AEDs.

         14                 In each building, an emergency

         15  response plan was developed.  Each plan had to

         16  identify how to activate the emergency response,

         17  that is how do you call for a trained volunteer if

         18  someone collapses.  The plan had to decide where to

         19  store the AED or the CPR equipment in the CPR

         20  groups, determine how many machines and how many

         21  volunteers would be needed.  In some large

         22  facilities, many AEDs were needed to always have one

         23  close enough.  In some locations, special training

         24  was needed regarding wet surfaces or metal floors or

         25  standing waters.  AEDs, after all, involve the
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          2  application of electricity, and so there's certain

          3  kinds of environmental hazards, which make the

          4  application of electricity dangerous to the rescuer

          5  or to bystanders.  So, training on all of these

          6  things is needed.

          7                 Then, after a plan was developed,

          8  everyone who lived or worked at the facility had to

          9  be informed about the public access defibrillation

         10  program and how to summon a trained volunteer if

         11  someone collapsed.  Then, at each of these

         12  locations, volunteers were recruited and trained to

         13  recognize and treat cardiac arrest.

         14                 In New York City, we trained 447 lay

         15  volunteers in CPR, and those who were in the AED and

         16  CPR group, were also taught how to use AEDs.  We

         17  then monitored each of these facilities for cardiac

         18  arrest for a period of almost two years. We got

         19  weekly reports from each building, and in addition,

         20  we tracked all 9- 1- 1 calls to the building, using

         21  EMS dispatch data. We had to do periodic re-

         22  training sessions for the PAD responders and

         23  continuing efforts to promote and publicize the

         24  public access defibrillation program, including

         25  newsletters, posters and leaflets.  These were
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          2  conducted throughout the study.

          3                 Last November, the main results of

          4  the PAD clinical trial were announced at the

          5  American Heart Association Scientific Sessions and

          6  I'd like to share those results with the Committee

          7  today.  In all 24 cities of the United States and

          8  Canada, 993 facilities were recruited.  More than

          9  20,000 volunteers were trained.  A total of 1,500

         10  AEDs were deployed. In the entire Trial, there were

         11  44 survivors of cardiac arrest. 15 of these were in

         12  the CPR only group and 29 were in the AED plus CPR

         13  group.

         14                 This difference was statistically

         15  significant, so in lay terms, public access

         16  defibrillation did save lives.  The PAD Trial proved

         17  that.  I think the PAD Trial also demonstrated that

         18  defibrillators are safe to use.  There were no

         19  adverse events.  There were no injuries, physical

         20  injuries to rescuers or bystanders.  But, I think a

         21  closer look at these data give us important

         22  information about where public AED programs worked

         23  and where they don't.  Public access defibrillation

         24  is a successful strategy to save lives in places

         25  where cardiac arrests occur frequently, and victims
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          2  are immediately discovered.

          3                 We know that most cardiac arrests

          4  occur at home, and indeed 16 percent of the

          5  facilities in the PAD Trial were residential, and

          6  almost a third of the treatable cardiac arrests

          7  occurred in the residential units.  That is, cardiac

          8  arrests occur more frequently at home than they do

          9  at other places.  We knew that before the Trial.

         10                 If we look at only the residential

         11  units, AEDS made no difference in survival.

         12  Survival was very low in both the CPR and the AED

         13  plus CPR groups.  Now, this is because cardiac

         14  arrest, as we've heard, often occurs with no

         15  warning. Therefore, individuals who are at home

         16  alone have no chance to call for assistance.

         17  Individuals who suffer cardiac arrest at home are

         18  often found long after the window within which

         19  either CPR or AEDS would, would make any difference

         20  at all.  So, mandating the placement of AEDs in

         21  residential buildings will not save lives.  There

         22  are other strategies that need to be used to try to

         23  reduce mortality from cardiac arrest at home, and if

         24  you like, I can talk about some of the new studies

         25  underway to look at that.  But, public access
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          2  defibrillation does not work in residential

          3  communities.

          4                 Now, the facilities in the PAD Trial

          5  were carefully chosen to have a high incident of

          6  cardiac arrest.  One method of doing this was to

          7  search EMS databases for addresses where frequent

          8  cardiac arrests had occurred.  When there wasn't any

          9  EMS data available, the chances of cardiac arrest

         10  occurring could be estimated from the number of

         11  people who are present at a place.  Because the risk

         12  of cardiac arrest increases with age, places with

         13  large numbers of individuals over the age of 50 have

         14  more frequent cardiac arrests than places where

         15  younger people are.

         16                 Even with these stringent criteria,

         17  most of the facilities in the PAD Trial did not have

         18  a single cardiac arrest during the two year study

         19  period.  AEDs can only save lives if they're placed

         20  in locations where cardiac arrests occur.  Public

         21  access defibrillation is most effective when it's

         22  implemented in locations that have frequent cardiac

         23  arrest.

         24                 Now, with the findings of the PAD

         25  Trial in mind, I've reviewed the two proposed
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          2  amendments regarding placement of AEDs in various

          3  locations in New York City.  Intro. Number 211 would

          4  mandate the placement of AEDs in many places where

          5  they're either unnecessary, or where they wouldn't

          6  be effective in saving lives.  I think the bill is

          7  drawn much too broadly.  Some of the public places

          8  specifically mentioned in the proposed legislation

          9  already have first responder programs.  So, that's

         10  actually a higher level of emergency care than

         11  public access defibrillation. So, additional PAD

         12  programs would be unnecessary.  Others of the public

         13  places mentioned are types of facilities where

         14  public access defibrillation was shown to be

         15  ineffective in the PAD Trial.  Intro. Number 206

         16  raises many of the same concerns.  I think the list

         17  of public places at which AEDs would be mandated in

         18  very similar.

         19                 Now I would like to speak in support

         20  of the idea of equipping all police and fire

         21  vehicles with AEDs.  If sufficient City resources

         22  were allocated to train all New York Fire Department

         23  and all New York Police Department personnel in CPR

         24  and the use of AEDs, we could expect a measurable

         25  improvement in survival rates from cardiac arrest
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          2  outside of the hospital. This was well documented

          3  even before the PAD Trial.  Equipping first

          4  responders with AEDs does save lives.

          5                 Now, this training and equipment

          6  would require considerable resources.  Again, much

          7  reference has been made to the price of the

          8  machines.  But, that's only a small fraction of the

          9  cost of an AED program.  The cost of the training,

         10  the on going re- training, development of emergency

         11  plans for police, for emergency protocols.  All of

         12  these would have to be taken into account in

         13  actually estimating the cost.  Purchase of the AEDs

         14  without appropriate on- going training will have no

         15  impact.

         16                 In fact, all of the provisions,

         17  really, of numbers, Intros. 206 and 211 have very

         18  substantial cost implications.  The AEDs themselves,

         19  really, are only a fraction of the cost involved, as

         20  I've just said.  The New York Stat law also requires

         21  collaboration with a health care provider, which,

         22  this too, would be an additional cost for locations

         23  that undertook to start public access defibrillation

         24  programs.

         25                 I'd also like to mention that the
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          2  provisions in both Intros. 211 and 206 that empower

          3  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene to

          4  promulgate rules and regulations for the purpose of

          5  implementing the proposed legislation really struck

          6  me as quite naive.  Having undertaken to implement

          7  PAD programs in a mere 60 buildings, I think the

          8  idea that you, you know, that the Department would

          9  be able to come up with a regulation, I think it's

         10  in either 90 or 120 days, one of the proposed

         11  legislation to really regulate all of the kinds of

         12  activities that would be involved in deploying these

         13  AEDs, I just think it's really unrealistic.

         14                 So, I'd really like to urge the

         15  Council to be guided by the results of the PAD Trial

         16  and other scientific studies in crafting legislation

         17  regarding the placements of AEDs. I'd like to say

         18  that I stand ready to assist the Council or its

         19  staff in drafting language that would allow us to

         20  place the AEDs in locations where cardiac arrests

         21  are likely to occur, and where public access

         22  defibrillation programs are likely to be successful

         23  in saving lives.  I thank you for your attention and

         24  I'd be happy to take questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member
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          2  Oddo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Doctor, thank

          4  you, and thank you for your off the cuff comments

          5  that you began with.  I understand sort of coming in

          6  wake of those presentations is not easy.  If I could

          7  sort of synthesize and paraphrase your testimony,

          8  you're saying that the clinical trial to date says a

          9  few things.  It says in particular instances, in

         10  particular locations, public access defibrillation

         11  does save lives.  So, that's a good thing.

         12                 You're concerns and the statistics

         13  regarding residential is well taken, and I think I,

         14  before you were here, I made the point that we left

         15  that provision open- ended.  Really, were talking

         16  about, I think it's worded, privately owned

         17  buildings with an occupancy in excess of 600, where

         18  you can infer from that, that we meant residential.

         19  We're going to clarify that and take the whole

         20  residential component out, and your rationale is

         21  well taken.

         22                 The help that we're going to need

         23  from you is with respect to your comments and the

         24  testimony that the public places is written too

         25  broadly.  We would like some specifics at a later
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          2  point.  You could tell us which public locations you

          3  think are worthy and should stay in the bill and

          4  which should come out --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Could I just

          6  add, if you wouldn't mind, this one point, just

          7  telling us, because you, in your testimony, talk

          8  about the places that the PAD study showed didn't

          9  work --

         10                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- If you could

         12  tell us the ones, you know, at some other point,

         13  which ones did work.

         14                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Right.  Well, it's

         15  mostly a function of the numbers of people.  But,

         16  places that have very large numbers of people moving

         17  through it, like airports, like large transportation

         18  hubs, Grand Central Station, for example. Those

         19  actually are places with predictably high numbers of

         20  cardiac arrest and they also have the advantage that

         21  when someone collapses in the middle of an airport,

         22  someone notices almost immediately, and that's why

         23  the airport PAD programs have been so successful.

         24                 On the other hand, as I think of the

         25  hundreds of subway stations in New York City, and as
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          2  I understand it, the bill would require AEDs at

          3  every subway station, I think one of them has that

          4  language.  I think that would be extremely

          5  problematic thing and very unlikely to produce any,

          6  you know, any appreciable results.  So, and golf

          7  courses actually, and we saw some very --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

          9                 DR. RICHARDSON: You know, moving

         10  testimony in the video about golf courses, as it

         11  turns out, also have very predictably high incidents

         12  of cardiac arrest.  I don't know how many golf

         13  courses there are within New York City, but that

         14  seems to me would be a place where it would be

         15  logical to mandate --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In fact --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- PAD programs --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Golf courses

         19  were part of phase one under the Guiliani

         20  Administration and, to be quite frank, going back to

         21  1998, when I sat down and I drafted this bill, how I

         22  drafted it was based on news articles that talked

         23  about the areas that were most common sites for

         24  cardiac arrest. So, I'd be more than, and I know the

         25  Chair --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- And the

          4  staff would be more than happy to define it much

          5  more precisely and have a much more tailored bill.

          6  I just have to say --

          7                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- And this the

          9  self -- well, you could say it's all self- serving,

         10  but this is the very self- serving portion of my

         11  show, and that's the fact that, you know, I would

         12  love to see each police and fire vehicle have an

         13  AED, and frankly, the only two people that seem to

         14  be interested in ponying up any bucks for that are

         15  sitting in front of you and maybe a third, with

         16  Council Member Vallone.  So, you know, we may have

         17  half a million dollars for that with some good folks

         18  from the NYPD, and I would love to see the

         19  Administration make that a reality.

         20                 The last thing is, and maybe the most

         21  important thing is, this notion of cost concerns,

         22  and maybe not so much only your testimony, but the

         23  testimony earlier by Dr. Silver, that talked about

         24  from sort of this cost benefit analysis.  This may

         25  not be the best program to spend money on to save
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          2  lives.  I have to tell you I have a couple of

          3  problems with that.  One, our priorities,

          4  historically, seem to be different than the

          5  Administration's priorities, and at the end of the

          6  day, we still spend $47 billion, whether -- well,

          7  the Mayor will say he only has control of $13

          8  billion.  At the end of the day, we still spend $13

          9  billion.  So, it's not that there's a lack of money.

         10  It's different priorities.

         11                 This clearly is going to be a

         12  priority of the Council and I think I made this

         13  point at the last time.  I keep hearing this sort of

         14  this common theme in the Administration that, and I

         15  go back to the fire department, it's as if, you

         16  know, if we carry that logic out, we don't pay the

         17  fire department on a per fire basis.  If we did,

         18  we'd cut a bigger portion of the budget than you

         19  folks did, and we'd close more fire houses that you

         20  folks did.  We pay them, sort of to be the security

         21  blanket and hereas, I don't know, how can you do a

         22  cost benefit analysis of a life that we save with an

         23  AED?

         24                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, I think you

         25  may be asking the wrong person that, because I, you
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          2  know, as an emergency physician, I see people who

          3  die preventable deaths from all kinds of diseases

          4  because we don't spend money on various kinds of

          5  programs that would save lives.  So, clearly, I

          6  think choices are made all the time, and I know it

          7  is so compelling, this machine, where you push a

          8  button and save a life.  And I, and I think because

          9  it happens in such a dramatic way, as you heard

         10  accurately described on the videos, that anyone who

         11  has experienced this, it really is a very compelling

         12  intervention.

         13                 But, I think the way that public

         14  health officials approach, judging the effectiveness

         15  of interventions or, you know, on very conventional

         16  ways, and you look at, if you implement this

         17  program, how many lives will you save?  It comes up

         18  with a statistic that, while it may sound some, you

         19  know, somewhat, you know, cold- hearted, is, in

         20  fact, dollars per life saved.  So, it is cost per

         21  life save.  So, how much money does it cost to save

         22  each additional life with smoking sensation (sic),

         23  obesity prevention, an exercise program, violence

         24  prevention --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Hold on --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Sure.

          4                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- And so there, we

          5  have a whole range of interventions that are

          6  considered effective that cost in the range of

          7  $30,000 to $50,000 per life saved.  That would be

          8  considered an effective public health intervention.

          9                 If we look at the PAD Trial, which

         10  was a success. If you look at the overall results,

         11  where we probably spent close to $14 million and we

         12  saved an additional 14 lives in the AED group

         13  compared to the CPR group, you're talking about a

         14  million dollars per life saved.  That starts to be

         15  outside the range of reality for cost effective

         16  public health interventions.

         17                 Now, I'm not an elected public

         18  official, I'm a physician, and if you put me in

         19  charge of the budget, everybody would have health

         20  care because my priorities clearly are in the area

         21  of health.  So, I think you're right in saying that

         22  it's a question of priorities, it's a question of

         23  what you spend your money on.  I very much support

         24  what you said about the importance of equipping

         25  police, and again, if we don't have money, at least
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          2  not this year to do everything, let's make sure we

          3  do first the things that are going to save the most

          4  lives.

          5                 I hope we get to the day that Mr.

          6  Acompora described where AEDs are everywhere.  I

          7  don't object to that.  I don't think that they can

          8  be today, because I don't think that we have the

          9  money to put AEDs everywhere, because whatever we

         10  spend on this program, we have to take from

         11  something else.

         12                 Now, I probably have a whole list of

         13  things in the City budget I would be willing to

         14  sacrifice to save some more lives, but I think the

         15  idea of putting them everywhere would be so

         16  prohibitively expensive, that we really have to look

         17  at picking and choosing where are the best places to

         18  choose to put them to save the most lives.  We can

         19  keep chipping away at it. But, at least for this

         20  year, however much money is going to get spent on

         21  this, let's make sure they go in the right places.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yea, I don't

         23  think we seek to put these tools everywhere with

         24  this bill.  I think this bill is realistic and I

         25  admit that it needs to be tailored perhaps,
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          2  somewhat.   But, I think is as a chipping away

          3  process and this bill doesn't seek to put them

          4  everywhere.

          5                 The question I have and I don't know

          6  if I can explain this the right way.  Are these

          7  other programs that we're kind of weighing this

          8  against -- yea, are they as sort of as cut and dry

          9  as -- Louis Acompora didn't have an AED.  He's not

         10  with us anymore.  It seems to be that there's no

         11  black and white in this.  If you have this tool at

         12  the right place at the right time, somebody will be

         13  alive.  Are the other programs an estimation of

         14  that?  Are the other programs as definitive, or you,

         15  can you --

         16                 DR. RICHARDSON: They're just as

         17  definitive --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are they? All of

         19  them?

         20                 DR. RICHARDSON: If you spend the

         21  money, you will save the lives.  Again, it may not

         22  be as dramatic as pushing the button on the AED, but

         23  it's just as effective.  I think this is perhaps the

         24  frustration that I suspect you heard from, you know,

         25  from the agency testimony, that there are many, many
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          2  interventions that are known to be cost- effective

          3  that we're also not putting as much money into as we

          4  would like to.  They don't come with the kind of

          5  compelling personal stories that sudden cardiac

          6  arrest and AEDs come with, but they are just as

          7  important.  They are lives that are being lost.

          8  They are lives that could be saved by putting

          9  resources into programs that save lives.  I think

         10  these are the choices that, you know, elected public

         11  officials have to make.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Well, despite

         13  the fact of this inherent --

         14                 DR. RICHARDSON: It's irresistible --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I was

         16  going --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON: I really get that --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: -- Say, despite

         19  the fact of the inherent --

         20                 DR. RICHARDSON: It's irresistible --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  -- Imbalance in

         22  terms of overall powers between the executive branch

         23  and the legislative branch, the budget is supposed

         24  to be -- now, this is where I go into a Dennis

         25  Miller rant, so you don't have to comment.
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          2                 The budget is supposed to reflect

          3  joint priorities, and clearly the Administration has

          4  priorities like nicotine patches, you know, and this

          5  is clearly a priority of the Council.  So, it's

          6  going to get done.  My hope is that we work together

          7  to address as much and as many of your concerns as

          8  possible so that, you know, we have a bill and it's

          9  as acceptable as possible.  But, thank you for your

         10  time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just before we

         12  call on Council Member Stewart, Rachel wanted to --

         13                 MRS. MOYER:  Yes, I remember last

         14  February, when Dr. Richardson testified and it took

         15  me a week to get over her testimony at that point,

         16  and here I go again, but I'm going to remain calm.

         17  If, Dr. Richardson, you went into cardiac arrest,

         18  would you want us to wait for the first responders

         19  to come to this building or use the AED I have right

         20  here?

         21                 DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't think that's

         22  the question.

         23                 MS. MOYER:  But it is relevant

         24  because of the fact is the Hilton has 3,000 rooms on

         25  52nd, 53rd Street.  They have televisions in their
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          2  elevators.  They do not have an AED in their hotel.

          3  This is one of the things that they're addressing

          4  here. The first responders are across the street

          5  from many of the schools.  By the time the child,

          6  the teacher, the whoever goes down, and, that could

          7  be a stadium, it could be any place in this City,

          8  you know, restaurant, by the time the person goes

          9  down, they've realized what's happening, they call

         10  9- 1- 1, the dispatcher puts through to the closest

         11  fire company or ambulance corps, by the time they

         12  get there, your window has just closed.

         13                 If it was my child or someone I

         14  loved, or to tell you the truth, I don't live in the

         15  City and people have told me, give up on the City,

         16  they have, they march to the tune of their own

         17  drummer.  I refuse to do it, because I love this

         18  City.

         19                 I have seen what they've gone

         20  through, and I think in terms of the number of

         21  people that die in this country, it's like two

         22  airplanes crashing every single day with 550 people

         23  aboard and I can't help but think of 9/11 and that

         24  is another reason why you and no one else is God,

         25  and if this City is ready to make the commitment and
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          2  tell people, they don't need a television in their

          3  elevator and they don't need something else that is

          4  totally unnecessary, new flooring or whatever, but

          5  they can spend $2,000 and they can find people that

          6  can be trained, then I think the priority is there

          7  and not -- I mean, I wish we could save every life

          8  that came into your ER, I genuinely do.

          9                 But, you know the story about the old

         10  man that was picking up a starfish and throwing them

         11  back in the sea and the kid looked at him and said,

         12  what are you doing old man, you can't save all those

         13  starfish?  He says, no I can't, but I can save this

         14  one.  And, that's what we're saying with these AEDs

         15  and if we pass these two bills.  Thank you.

         16                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Again, I don't

         17  disagree and I think everything you said about the

         18  chain of survival is true. But, again, I have a long

         19  list of things that I would like to see funded to

         20  save lives.  It's not that I don't think AEDs should

         21  be on the list, but it's a long list, and I just

         22  don't see the resources for us to fund all of them.

         23                 You -- many of the stories that you

         24  all spoke about talked about how long you had to

         25  wait for ambulances to arrive with paramedics.
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          2  Well, why don't we double the number of ambulances

          3  in the City?  That would save -- I could do the

          4  calculations for how many more people that would

          5  save.  I'm told we can't afford to do that.

          6                 So, I -- we don't disagree about the

          7  priority of saving lives.  It's a question of how.

          8  It's a question of strategy and it's a question of

          9  prioritizing resources.  I think the Hilton should

         10  have an AED.  I think you should undertake a boycott

         11  to make people aware of the fact that they haven't

         12  spent the money to do that and force them to put it

         13  in.

         14                 We're talking though about something

         15  very different here, public policy and mandating all

         16  kinds of entities to undertake this burden and

         17  expense.  It's not about whether or not the Hilton

         18  should spend money on saving lives, rather than, you

         19  know, tvs in the elevators.  So, I think there are

         20  lots of things on which we don't disagree and I'm

         21  sorry that my testimony angers you, but I think that

         22  we have to be driven by more than, you know, the

         23  tragedy of lost lives, in making decisions about

         24  public policy.  I wish that wasn't true --

         25                 MS. MOYER:  -- You were doing the
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          2  analysis --

          3                 Dr. RICHARDSON:  -- But it is --

          4                 MS. MOYER:  -- Between the number of

          5  people that die, even if it's one life, that's why

          6   -- I don't see there can be cost- effectiveness

          7  that way.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Let me just --

          9                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- I know you don't

         10   --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Let me just

         12  jump in here. You know, I think this issue that's in

         13  this bill, this issue that's before the Council

         14  today, is driven by a host of different things.  It

         15  is absolutely driven by tragedy and we would not be

         16  here today if not for the Moyer and the Acompora

         17  family, no question about it.  And, tragically, not

         18  infrequently, government responds when there is

         19  tragedy, and you're right, doctor, sometimes

         20  government can react in a knee- jerk way to tragedy

         21  and come up with solutions that seem good, but

         22  actually, were well intentioned, but not ones that

         23  hit the nail on the head.

         24                 I wish this whole effort hadn't taken

         25  even as long as it's taken, but we are going to make
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          2  sure when we pass this bill, that we not just react

          3  emotionally, but that with the leadership of people

          4  like the Moyers and the Acomporas who have, in a way

          5  that I actually can't envision, been able to move

          6  beyond emotion and become actual real experts on

          7  this issue, with their help, with the medical

          8  world's help, with people like you, that we come up

          9  with a bill that is targeted and focused and will

         10  maximize the ability to prevent unnecessary cardiac

         11  deaths in this City.

         12                 I can tell you right now, it's not

         13  going to be the only thing that this Council does as

         14  it relates to cardiac health, and I can list a bunch

         15  of other stuff we've done, much of it with Council

         16  Member Oddo's leadership.  It can't be the only

         17  thing, but it will be something with your help,

         18  doctor, it will be a better bill, and therefore, a

         19  more effective bill that will prevent more losses.

         20                 But, we can't, you know, I can't

         21  pretend it is not out of the tragedy of these

         22  families.  It is.  But, it will be better based on

         23  the scientific data that you and others will bring

         24  forward, and hopefully, through, you know, very

         25  productive two- way dialogue with the City
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          2  Administration, who I hope will also, in the next

          3  few weeks, put some dollars to the other ideas that

          4  they put in their testimony.  Certainly, there are

          5  questions that we will ask Tom Frieden next week, or

          6  whenever it is that he is here for the budget

          7  hearing.  So, Council Member Stewart has some final

          8  questions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Doctor

         10  Richardson, I was told earlier that the lifespan of

         11  the battery for this device is about five years.

         12  Assuming that we were to install one of these at an

         13  institution like a church, you know, wouldn't that

         14  be -- you know, I noticed you didn't give any

         15  studies anything to deal with churches and/or the

         16  colleges and schools --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yeah, some of those

         18   --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: High schools

         20   --

         21                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yeah.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I didn't hear

         23  you talk about that.  I -- most of the deaths that

         24  I've heard about or read about had to do with

         25  vibrant, strong guy playing basketball. As a matter
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          2  of fact, I remember a couple years ago, one

          3  youngster collapsed on the floor and apparently,

          4  they didn't even have one of these devices there.

          5  What I'm saying here is that with $2,000.00 being

          6  spent on the school for five years, and then at the

          7  end of five years, you may need to get a new one, or

          8  even renew the battery or whatever the case is --

          9                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.  Well, the

         10  cost is a little bit more than the $2,000.00 once

         11  for the five years, as I said.  For example, when,

         12  obviously, the cost depends on the location, how

         13  much training costs and so on.  But, on average, in

         14  the PAD Trial, for example, we estimated that the

         15  cost of having a public access defibrillation

         16  program was probably in the range of $2,000.00 to

         17  $2,500.00 per year --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But --

         19                 DR. RICHARDSON:  If you take an AED

         20  and, you know, spread the cost of it over that five

         21  year period, the cost of training, the cost of re-

         22  training.  Of course, for many facilities, you have

         23  to understand, one AED is not enough, because you

         24  have to have enough AEDs located at various places

         25  that anywhere on the premises that a victim
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          2  collapses, you can get a defibrillator there within

          3  three minutes.

          4                 So, for example, when you look at

          5  something like a golf course, which we did have in

          6  the PAD Trial, some of them had not one, but five,

          7  ten, sometimes as many as 16 AEDs in a single

          8  facility, to be able to assure that you could get

          9  one any place on the premises.

         10                 Obviously, the larger the location,

         11  the larger the facility, the more AEDs you will

         12  need.  Similarly, you have the training issue of the

         13  volunteers and over however many hours the place is

         14  open, however many days of the week, you have to --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm looking

         16  at --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON:  --  Assure there's

         18  always someone there who knows how to use it and so

         19  on --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Let's --

         21                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- So, it's still, I

         22  mean, we can calculate the cost.  It's more than

         23  $2,000.00 over five years, but --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Let's

         25  specifically look at --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: It is what it is --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- A church.

          4    Let's specifically look at a church, because I had

          5  the notion that maybe I can go out and --

          6                 DR. RICHARDSON: Raise money?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- No, go

          8  out and use some of my discretionary funds for some

          9  of the major institutions in my district.  For

         10  example, let's take a church, for example, they're

         11  only there maybe twice a week, with a large amount

         12  of people.  So, but the fact is, you may have two,

         13  300 people there at a time.  To me, all you may need

         14  is one AED there, and I feel --

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes, I agree --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Alright, so

         17  isn't that worth it to have it in that church?

         18                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Worth it so whom?

         19  To the members of that church? --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, yea, to

         21   --

         22                 DR. RICHARDSON: Certainly --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right, that's

         24  what I'm looking at.  I'm looking at -- based on

         25  your studies, I get the notion that --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: But again, what would

          3  be the cost of putting one in every church, every

          4  Sunday, any church that has 100 or 200 people in it?

          5    And that's the cost then that you're talking

          6  about, the societal cost to say, well, every such

          7  place has to have an AED --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

          9                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- So, now if you

         10  ask me what are the, you know, what are the

         11  likelihood that under those circumstances that a

         12  cardiac arrest would occur at one of those churches

         13  on one of those Sundays, and again, we can do

         14  projections about how likely it is that a cardiac

         15  arrest would occur, and then you make the decision,

         16  as I say, about whether or not that's worth the

         17  expense.  But, --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Yea, but

         19   --

         20                 DR. RICHARDSON: I think it's --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- For me to

         22  know, for me to know what the expense, I'm looking

         23  at you as the expert giving me some, based on your

         24  studies, where I want to know from you. You should

         25  tell me something like that --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Or even

          4  with the high school.  In the high school, you want

          5  to have it, maybe close to the gym, where you know

          6  they'll be exercise and there would be that type of

          7   -- because when I hear about a young man being

          8  involved and having this problem, it's usually after

          9  exercise or during exercise.  All right?  Or even a

         10  college, you know.  So I'm looking at those factors,

         11  you know, and if each Member of the Council decides,

         12  well, they want to concentrate on his district-

         13                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: It might be

         15  only five or six institutions in his district that

         16  he wants to deal with --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- And we

         19  want to know if it's going to be cost- effective to

         20  do that.

         21                 DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, I would be

         22  happy if you wanted to have a conversation about

         23  your district and what would be the best, you know,

         24  five or ten places in your districts --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: To put a public

          3  access defibrillation program in --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

          5                 DR. RICHARDSON: I mean, I think

          6  that's exactly the way that sort of what we know

          7  about how this works could be used to target where

          8  to put these programs.  Again, that if you have

          9  limited funds and you want to do something --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         11                 DR. RICHARDSON: Where would be the

         12  best places, and I'd be happy to talk to you about

         13  that if I had more specific information about, you

         14  know, the boundaries of your district and what kind

         15  of institutions are in there.  But I think that's

         16  exactly the approach that should be taken, to saying

         17  okay, I want to do something.  Let, what do we know

         18  about the best places to put these?  I think that's

         19  exactly the approach you should take.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And I also

         21  agree that all the police cars and fire trucks, they

         22  should at least have this device, because they --

         23  and the emergency vehicles, they should have this

         24  device, because they're the ones that usually

         25  respond and not --
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          2                 DR. RICHARDSON: They will actually

          3  save more live than any --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

          5                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- Individual

          6  community- placed program, because they actually are

          7  responding constantly to emergencies.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And also,

          9  they normally have to go to get training --

         10                 DR. RICHARDSON: Exactly --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And this is

         12  something that can be --

         13                 DR. RICHARDSON:  -- Incorporated --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- If

         15  they're not trained in it, they can always go back

         16  to get the training --

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Which

         19  would be easier. I want to thank you for your

         20  testimony.  I --

         21                 DR. RICHARDSON: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I enjoyed the

         23  information that I received.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you all

         25  very much for all of your testimony and all of your
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          2  work up until the hearing, particularly, the

          3  Acomopora and the Moyer family, who have been so

          4  helpful and so accessible to myself and Council

          5  Member Oddo and to our staff.

          6       Just so folks know, we are going to hopefully

          7  begin having further discussions with the

          8  Administration and their medical folks as soon as

          9  possible, hopefully next week, to move us as quickly

         10  as we can to the most effective law of this nature

         11  that we could possibly pass and have signed into

         12  law.  So, thank you all for your help today and we

         13  thank you in advance for the rest of your time that

         14  we're going to take up over the upcoming weeks. This

         15  hearing is adjourned.

         16                 (Meeting adjourned at 4:50 p.m.)

         17                 (Following written testimony was read

         18  into the record)

         19

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  RICHARD A. LAZAR

         23  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

         24  EARLY DEFIBRILLATION LAW & POLICY CENTER

         25                 Thank you for inviting the Early

                                                            185

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Defibrillation Law & Policy Center (EDLPC) to offer

          3  comments on Int. 211- 2004 relating to the placement

          4  of automated external defibrillators (AEDs) in

          5  certain public places.  EDLPC is committed to the

          6  widespread public deployment and rapid use of AEDs

          7  within a proper design, operational, and public

          8  policy framework.  We strongly support Int. 211-

          9  2004, and note the further benefits that can be

         10  achieved with a programmatic approach to public

         11  access defibrillation and the unconditional

         12  availability of AEDs to any willing rescuer.  We are

         13  concerned, however, that the full benefit of the

         14  legislation's important public health goals may be

         15  difficult to attain within the context of current

         16  New York state law.

         17                 Potential Benefits of Public Access

         18  Defibrillation.  If enacted, Int. 211- 2004 would

         19  require that AEDs be made available in thousands of

         20  public places in New York City.  Widespread AED

         21  deployment is very important from a public policy

         22  and public health perspective.

         23                 Sudden cardiac arrest (SCA) strikes

         24  every day- often without warning and without regard

         25  to age.  Over 450,000 people die each year in the
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          2  United States from SCA- making it the leading cause

          3  of death in this country.  More than cancer. More

          4  than heart attach or stroke.  And yet many sudden

          5  cardiac arrest victims can survive with a very

          6  simple treatment- quick delivery of an electric

          7  pulse to the heart using an AED.

          8                 Treatment within three minutes- less

          9  time than a TV commercial break- gives the best

         10  chance of survival for an SCA victim.  Every minute

         11  of delay reduces the chance of survival by another

         12  ten percent.  By the time an ambulance arrives just

         13  six to eight minutes later (often longer in New York

         14  City), the chances of survival have decreased from

         15  70 percent to less than 20 percent.  SCA can and

         16  does occur everywhere throughout places of daily

         17  life, so the only solution is to deploy and use AEDs

         18  everywhere.

         19                 The Importance of AED Programs- Not

         20  Just AEDs. AEDs alone do not save lives.  People

         21  quickly using AEDs save lives.  Program success

         22  requires the proper configuration of people,

         23  systems, methods and equipment in an operational and

         24  public policy environment that encourages life

         25  saving action. The deployment of AEDs alone is not
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          2  enough.

          3                 Because SCA victims must be

          4  defibrillated rapidly, outcomes associated with

          5  poorly designed and implemented AED programs are

          6  disastrous.  Lives can be lost due to a variety of

          7  response system failures including inaccessible

          8  AEDs, long response times, and the failure to

          9  respond.  We are aware of numerous situations in

         10  which AEDs were present but not used at sites of

         11  sudden cardiac arrest leading to tragic results.

         12  Properly designed AED response programs can reduce

         13  these risks resulting in more lives saved.

         14                 Strengths of and Recommended

         15  Enhancements to Int. 211- 2004.  Int. 211- 2004

         16  makes a very powerful statement about New York

         17  City's commitment to increasing survival rates from

         18  sudden cardiac arrest.  Mandating the deployment of

         19  AEDs at thousands of public places increases the

         20  likelihood that these life- saving devices will be

         21  available promptly when needed.  The legislation's

         22  notice requirements will further the goal of

         23  building public awareness about AEDs and their

         24  benefits.  We hope that some day the general public

         25  will be as aware of AEDs as they are of fire
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          2  extinguishers and, like the fire extinguisher model,

          3  will act quickly to retrieve and use AEDs whenever

          4  and wherever SCA strikes.

          5                 While Int. 211- 2004 has the

          6  potential to bring tremendous public health

          7  benefits, we believe there are two areas where Int.

          8  211- 2004 can provide even more benefits.  First, we

          9  suggest that language be added to encourage that

         10  AEDs in public placed be deployed within a

         11  programmatic context.  Note, we do not believe

         12  program specifics should be included within the

         13  legislation or regulations because general public

         14  access defibrillation standards of reasonableness

         15  are still evolving. Second, we believe the

         16  legislation should expressly permit AED use by any

         17  willing rescuer.  Because time is of the essence,

         18  anyone willing to take steps to save a life should

         19  be allowed to do so.  This goal is supported by a

         20  Chicago O'Hare International Airport study showing

         21  that over 60 percent of reported sudden cardiac

         22  arrest saves were accomplished by people who were

         23  not trained in the use of an AED.

         24                 We offer the following suggested

         25  amendments to section 17- 186b:  Automated external
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          2  defibrillators required. The owner or operator of a

          3  public place shall make available in such public

          4  place automated external defibrillators in

          5  quantities and locations deemed adequate by the

          6  department pursuant to subdivision d of this section

          7  and in accordance with section 3000- b of the New

          8  York state public health law.  Such automated

          9  external defibrillators shall be readily accessible

         10  to any willing user for use during medical

         11  emergencies.  The owner or operator of a public

         12  place is encouraged to deploy AEDs within the

         13  context of an AED program that plans for prompt

         14  life- saving action.  Any information regarding use

         15  of automated external defibrillators deemed

         16  necessary by the commissioner pursuant to

         17  subdivision d of this section shall accompany and be

         18  kept with the automated external defibrillator.  [

         19  Underlined text inserted.]

         20                 We note that our proposed insertions

         21  may conflict with existing New York state law.

         22  Public Health Law section 3000- b, specifically

         23  referenced in section 17- 186 b., expressly

         24  prohibits AED use by untrained users.  From an

         25  operational, legal and public policy standpoint, we
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          2  believe this prohibition restricts rather than

          3  enhances the potential effectiveness of public

          4  access defibrillation programs.  The Chicago study,

          5  and others, tell us that public policy should

          6  encourage rather than inhibit a prompt AED response

          7  to sudden cardiac arrest.  After all, you cannot

          8  worsen the condition giving rise to the need- sudden

          9  cardiac arrest victims will die if not treated

         10  immediately with defibrillation.

         11                 Int. 211- 2004 subsection 17- 186 e.

         12  Offers qualified Good Samaritan immunity to owners

         13  and operators of public places, their employees, and

         14  volunteer AED users for acts and omissions relating

         15  to the provision of emergency treatment using an

         16  AED.  From our reading of subsection 17- 186 and

         17  Public Health Law subsections 3000- a and 3000- b,

         18  it appears that Good Samaritan immunity may not be

         19  available to untrained AED users or to owners and

         20  operators of public places for actions relating to

         21  the design and implementation of an AED response

         22  program.  These significant gaps in liability

         23  protection may inhibit the willingness and

         24  enthusiasm of public places to quickly deploy AEDs

         25  and members of the public from helping SCA victims.
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          2                 Conclusions.  We commend your efforts

          3  to address the public health threat of sudden

          4  cardiac arrest in New York City and strongly support

          5  passage of Int. 211- 204.  In addition, we would

          6  support minor changes to bring further benefits.  We

          7  appreciate the opportunity to comment and hope that

          8  our views are helpful to the public policy

          9  discussion.

         10                 We also appreciate your invitation to

         11  attend the May 4, 2004 public hearing on Int. 211-

         12  2004.  Unfortunately, given the short notice we will

         13  be unable to attend.

         14                 Should you have any questions or need

         15  additional information, please feel free to contact

         16  me directly.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 4:50 p.m.)
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